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Our Vision
By 2012, we are recognised as a world-class company
in the offshore industry.

Our Mission
To consistently outperform ourselves by maintaining
and achieving an above average return on investment for
our stakeholders measured in terms of ROE, EPS, revenue
growth, operating profit and market capitalisation.

Our TRADEmark Values
Trust
Respect
Affirmation
Determination
Excellence

Corporate Profile
A World Class Company In The Offshore Industry
Swiber Holdings Limited is a world-class company in the offshore industry offering comprehensive and
integrated solutions classified under three core business units – Offshore Construction Services (OCS),
Offshore Support Services (OSS) and Offshore Drilling Services (ODS).
Headquartered in Singapore, we have a workforce of over 700 talented people strategically deployed in
offices across the Asia Pacific and Middle East.
Since our conception in 1996 as a vessel charterer, we have been committed to transforming our company
into a success in the offshore oil and gas industry. In 2002, led by a team of highly experienced and
qualified personnel, we expanded our business to provide offshore engineering and construction services.
Today Swiber, successfully listed on the Singapore Stock Exchange since 2006, holds an eminent position
amongst global offshore oil and gas engineering and construction companies. Among these industry
players, the Swiber brand is synonymous with Excellence, Safety and Value.
Our strengths are diverse and many. They include an impeccable track record, an extensive and growing
fleet of sophisticated offshore vessels, a wide pool of experienced human talent, forward-looking
business strategies, and above all, an overarching corporate commitment to Quality, Health, Safety and
Environment policies.
These, and more, position Swiber strongly to meet challenges head on and capitalise on the world’s
growing energy demands.
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Unprecedented. Extraordinary. Worst in a century. These exceedingly strong words
are used to describe the global economic crisis the world faces today. Strong as they
may be, these words aptly depict the economic tsunami that has struck, and felled,
companies, industries and countries across the globe.
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The route ahead will not be easy for Swiber given shrinking global
GDP growth, credit crunch and volatile oil prices. But if nothing else,
Swiber is resilient and resourceful.
From a vessel charterer in our founding days, Swiber has become a
world-class company in the offshore industry today.
Armed with faith, fortitude and a resilient business model
and bolstered by an experienced and talented team of people,
we believe that we will be able to meet and counter the
challenges that are thrown our way.
In spite of the difficulties and challenges we face today, there
is one certainty tomorrow - Swiber is Built To Last.
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Built to Perform
With a Formidable Fleet
A sizable fleet of 36 technologically sophisticated
vessels as at 31 March 2009 underscores Swiber’s
service capabilities in the offshore industry. By 2010,
this fleet will grow to 52 vessels with committed
capex for these new vessels already fully financed, a
testimony to Swiber’s solid financial position. Anchored
by its strong fleet, Swiber is Built to Perform.
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Built to Lead
With a Talented Team
Over 700 talented people strategically deployed
in offices across the Asia Pacific and Middle East
propels Swiber towards service excellence. These
same people are continuously groomed, through
comprehensive leadership and effectiveness
programmes, to optimise performance. Helmed by
a team of highly experienced and qualified senior
executives, Swiber is Built to Lead.
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Built for
Opportunities
Through Astute Strategies
A strong business model and a forward-looking vision
advances Swiber towards greater stability, resilience
and sustainability. Market development. Tactical
partnerships. Wind Energy. These are some of
Swiber’s strategies to navigate the turbulent waters
ahead. Despite the present challenging business
environment, Swiber is Built for Opportunities.
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Built For Quality
Swiber’s impeccable track record in delivering quality is built on a top-notch Quality, Health, Safety and
Environmental (QHSE) Management System founded on behavioral-based safety. At the heart of this
system lies an unwavering commitment to Cause No Harm, where every decision and action taken by
employees must cause no harm to individuals; equipment, materials and assets; the environment and
the planet; and lastly, future generations.

The positive result of our Cause No Harm philosophy and culture is apparent from the Quality Assurance
testaments Swiber has received over the years. Swiber is certified in ISO 14001:2004 for environmental
management, ISO 9001:2000 for Quality Management and OHSAS 18001:1999 for Health and Safety
Management. We operate our business based on a Total Quality Management (TQM) system, which is
founded on the ISO 9001:2000 standard, and through this, Swiber is able to manage projects
more efficiently and effectively; as well as monitor, measure, and improve our performance on
a continuous basis.

Certificate Number 40686

Certificate Number 42661

Certificate Number 40687

In addition, Swiber has introduced a comprehensive Leadership Development Programme to retain
human talent and to create an environment that enables the delivery of high performance projects.
This programme includes Personal Effectiveness Training and Emotional Excellence courses targeted
to hone leadership, management and effectiveness skills, as well as the emotional intelligence of
employees. Through the programme, Swiber aims to promote cohesion and optimise performance
within the organisation.
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Core Business
Swiber delivers innovation and value to our customers through all spectrums
of an offshore oil and gas project – from exploration, to field development
and on to production. Our operations are organised into three units
– Offshore Construction Services (OCS), Offshore Support Services (OSS),
and Offshore Drilling Services (ODS) – to allow efficiency, timely project
delivery and competitive pricing to our customers. Together, our three
highly complementary business areas enable Swiber to offer fully integrated
services to our customers, transforming Swiber into a larger, stronger entity
in the offshore arena.

Offshore Construction Services (OCS)

Offshore Support Services (OSS)

Offshore Drilling Services (ODS)

Through Swiber Offshore Construction

Through Kreuz International

Through Equatorial Drilling International

Project management • Transportation and
installation of fixed offshore platforms
• Transportation and installation of subsea
pipelines • Floating production systems
• Subsea field commissioning • FPSO (Floating,
Production, Storage and Offloading), FSO
(Floating, Storage and Offloading), and CALM
buoy • Mooring installation services • Vessel life
extension • Management of platform fabrication
• Platform construction

•

Marine transportation • Charter of offshore
marine support vessels • Charter of diving
support vessels • Ship management services
• Ship repair and maintenance services
• Shipyard and shipbuilding services
• Subsea diving support services • Conceptual
and feasibility engineering studies • Front
end engineering design • Mooring systems
design • Basic and detailed engineering

•

•

Offshore drilling project management
Drilling services and logistics • Deepwater
mooring engineering and project services
• Metocean data collection and design services
• Seafloor surveys and site hazard assessment
project services • Marine geotechnical
investigation and foundation design
project services
•
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Group Financial Highlights

$428.4m

Revenue (US$’m)
183.4% increase from
US$151.2m in FY2007

9.19

50.2% increase from
US$42.8m in FY2007

Increase due to vessels purchase but
expected to decrease over next 2 years
with delivery of vessels

600
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Offshore EPCIC

Offshore Marine
Support

Shipbuilding and Repair

About

• Provides comprehensive solutions
for offshore projects, including
turnkey project management,
transportation and installation of
offshore structures, subsea completion
works and decommissioning services
• Taps on experienced team of engineers,
project managers and offshore personnel

• Provides offshore marine
transportation, subsea support
services, and engineering services
• Operates a modern fleet of 28 offshore
and 8 construction vessels as at
31 March 2009
• Vessel chartering

• Provides shipbuilding, conversion,
repair and maintenance services
including design engineering
• Operates a 2.4 ha shipyard, which
doubles up as a marine base for Swiber
vessels, located in Singapore

FY08
Highlights

• Secured over US$472 million worth
of offshore installation contracts
spanning India, Indonesia, Malaysia,
Brunei, Thailand and Vietnam
• Contracts won include US$127 million
India project for British Gas and US$50
million per year contract with CUEL for
a 5-year period
• Successfully completed Brunei Shell’s
Mampak Project in Brunei
• Formed strategic alliances in the
Middle East, Thailand and Vietnam to
further grow EPCIC business

• Boosted design engineering capabilities
through JV with Principia Recherche &
Development SA
• Won first subsea services contract
worth US$7 million in India
• Sealed US$7.3 million charter contract
in Vietnam
• Expanded fleet with the successful
delivery of 10 new vessels
• Entered into US$225 million sale and
leaseback deals for 5 vessels

• Inked over US$27 million in contracts
for the design / construction of Single
Point Mooring (SPM) buoys and crane
barges

FY09
Outlook &
Strategy

• Focus on shallow water
• Strengthen market presence through
alliances
– Asia Pacific
– Middle East (incl. GCC)
– Indo China
• Explore subsea opportunities in
Asia Pacific, India and the Middle East
• Explore wind energy opportunities

• Reduce use of 3rd party construction
vessels to cut costs
• Utilise in-house diving division to
eliminate dependence on subcontractors

• Provide in-house support to
Swiber’s fleet of offshore vessels and
construction barges
• Provide fabrication services to support
OCS projects, reducing the need to go to
3rd party yards
• Seize spot opportunities to repair 3rd
party vessels when slots are available
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Other Corporate Highlights
• Raised S$100 million in the domestic bond market, under its Multicurrency Medium Term Note (MTN) programme
• Appointed new CEOs, Nitish Gupta and Darren Yeo, to head the Offshore Construction and Offshore Services units respectively
• Received prestigious corporate accolades including:
* One of the 14 Singapore companies named in Forbes Asia’s Best Under a Billion list
* 5th Fastest Growing Internationalising Company in the Singapore International 100 Ranking 2008
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A Message from the Executive Chairman and Group CEO

To our Shareholders and Stakeholders,
On behalf of the Board and Management, I am
pleased to present Swiber’s Annual Report for the
Fiscal Year 2008. As you read this report, I hope
it will bring you continued confidence in
our Company.
2008 was a rocky year. The spiraling global
financial crisis, which dominated the second half
of 2008, has made its considerable impact felt by
countries, industries and companies across the
world. Global GDP has shrunk significantly,
liquidity has frozen to a trickle, oil prices have
plummeted from a historic high of US$147 per
barrel to below US$50 and, business confidence
has all but disappeared.
Against this insidious landscape, I am proud to
report that 2008 has proven to be a pivotal and
successful year for Swiber. And our successes
during the year can be measured on many fronts.
For one, we successfully laid down the foundations
for our Company’s future growth in terms of our
fleet strength and quality, our financing strategy
in vessel investments, our human resource
development, and most importantly, our business

14
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and risk management strategy for further
expansion. These strategies will be critical in
helping Swiber navigate the choppy waters of the
current economic climate.
In 2008, Swiber received two very prestigious
corporate accolades, testifying to the strength of
our business fundamentals. Our Company was one
of the 14 Singapore companies named in Forbes
Asia’s ‘Best Under a Billion’ list in September,
and was ranked as the 5th Fastest Growing
Internationalising Company in the Singapore
International 100 Ranking 2008 in November.
For the 12 months ended 31 December 2008
(FY2008), our Company achieved US$39.5 million
in earnings on the back of record-breaking sales
totaling US$428.4 million. Our Company also took
steps to strengthen our balance sheet during
the year by reducing our debt position, through
asset-light strategies, and enhancing our cash
position. I am pleased to note that Swiber is now in
a healthier and stronger position financially to take
on challenges that come our way.
It is also during this difficult year that Swiber learnt
the true value of resilience. We are well aware of
the difficult times ahead and our strategies are

formulated to help our Company ride out the global
economic storm. Couple these strategies with a
fundamentally solid business model and a group of
exceptionally tenacious employees, Swiber is in a
good position to emerge from this economic crisis a
stronger corporate entity. In short, as illustrated by
our annual report, Swiber is built to last.
FY2008 financial performance
In FY2008, the revenue of our Company soared
183.4% to US$428.4 million, from US$151.2
million in FY2007. Swiber’s exceptional topline
performance was fuelled by a strong and steady
stream of projects.
Our net profit, while still healthy, dipped to US$39.5
million, a 20.6% decline from US$49.7 million a
year ago. This was due largely to the late delivery of
two construction vessels, namely our dive-support
work barge Swiber Supporter and our pipelay barge
Swiber Concorde, which affected some of our project
completions in 4QFY08. Without these two vessels,
our Company incurred higher 3rd party costs, and
time delays for multiple mobilisations and demobilisations of existing construction vessels from
project to project. Correspondingly, our gross profit
margin in FY2008 fell to 15.0% from 28.3% a year ago.

A Message from the Executive Chairman and Group CEO
However, I am pleased to report that the Swiber
Supporter and Swiber Concorde have been safely
delivered to our Company on 31 January and
28 February 2009 respectively. Swiber Supporter
is currently deployed offshore in India completing
our projects while Swiber Concorde is preparing for
mobilisation to its first project.
Their arrivals are also timely to help fulfill our
Company’s hefty order book which amounted to
over half a billion at US$596 million as at 31
December 2008, substantially higher as compared
to US$350 million on order in February 2008.
And attesting to the continued strength of our
sales momentum and robust operations, Swiber
has been awarded new offshore projects totaling
US$70 million in the first two months of FY2009.
These contracts pertain mainly to the installation
of pipelines, subsea tie-ins, and vessel charters
spanning Malaysia, India, Thailand and the Middle
East.
Swiber’s earnings per share, based on our FY2008
results, was 9.19 US cents (based on 422,367,104
weighted average ordinary shares in issue)
from 12.56 US cents in FY2007, while net asset
value per share rose to 48.85 US cents as at 31
December 2008, from 41.68 US cents a year ago.
Profitability
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Going by segmental contribution, Offshore EPCIC,
Offshore Marine Support, Shipbuilding and
Repair units accounted for 69%, 22% and 9%
respectively of Swiber’s FY2008 revenue.
Each of our business segments delivered strong
results. Offshore EPCIC recorded sales of
US$296.8 million, up 153.4% from a year ago, due
largely to the completion of offshore projects for
major international oil and gas companies in our
markets. Offshore Marine Support sales jumped
310.0% to US$91.9 million while sales from our
Shipbuilding and Repair unit rose 240.8% to
US$39.7 million, with the completion of two
floating crane barges as well as the design and
engineering of two Single Point Mooring (SPM)
buoys at Kreuz Shipyard in the course of the year.
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15%

FY07

77%

69%

Offshore EPCIC
Offshore Marine Support
Shipbuilding & Repair
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Results by business segments
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Rest assured that Swiber
is back on track to deliver
strong results in the coming
year. Our Company’s order
book as at 31 December
2008 amounted to over
half a billion at US$596
million, substantially higher
as compared to US$350
million on order in February
2008. And attesting to the
continued strength of our
sales momentum and robust
operations, Swiber has been
awarded new offshore projects
totaling US$70 million in the
first two months of FY2009.
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A Message from the Executive Chairman and Group CEO
While the gross profit for each segment saw a
year-on-year improvement in absolute terms,
our margins declined as a result of higher costs
associated with the use of 3rd party vessels and
subcontractors. We expect charter costs to drop,
however, as we expand our fleet over the next
two years. In addition, Swiber is also increasingly
utilising our diving division to support our subsea
projects, to reduce our reliance on subcontractors,
thereby further cutting costs.

Gross Profit (US$’m) and Margin (%)
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Results by geographical markets
Swiber’s operations are carried out offshore
through our companies located in Singapore,
Malaysia, India, Indonesia and branches in Brunei.
Analysis of our sales is by geographical market
irrespective of the origin of the work / services.

Revenue Breakdown by Markets (%)

Our Asia Pacific and Middle East strategy has
paid off handsomely. In terms of geographical
breakdown, Singapore, Malaysia, Indonesia, Brunei,
India and Others contributed 8%, 28%, 23%,
17%, 16% and 8% respectively of Swiber’s
FY2008 revenue.
Our sales in Singapore grew 72.8% to US$33.8
million primarily due to the shipbuilding,
maintenance and repair services at Kreuz Shipyard.
Swiber’s slice of revenue from Malaysia and
Indonesia jumped 135.6% and 405.4% to US$120
million and US$96.4 million respectively, and was
attributable to a number of sizable transportation
installation projects for international oil and gas
customers based in those countries. In Brunei,
sales jumped 41.9% to US$72.1 million. Swiber
also started work on a US$127 million project
with British Gas India in 1QFY2008 and initial
contributions from this project, amongst others,
resulted in the higher revenue from India. Notably,
revenue from Others, which include Vietnam and
Thailand, spiked more than 10 folds to US$35.4
million. This, we believe, reflects the strengthening
of Swiber’s geographical markets via joint ventures
and alliances, into these established offshore oil
and gas provinces.
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Over US$500 million in projects secured during the year
In FY2008, Swiber clinched over US$500 million worth of projects across our key business units, testament to our growing reputation in the offshore industry.

Our projects secured during the year
Offshore EPCIC
Date

Client/ Country

Work Scope

Start

Target
Completion

14 Feb 08

Indonesia

Transport & install pipelines (Contract extension)

2Q08

4Q08

35.0

24 Feb 08

Malaysia

Transport & install pipelines, platforms/bridge; subsea spool tie-ins 1Q08
and pre-commissioning

2Q 08

31.0

7 Mar 08

British Gas India /
India

EPCIC of various offshore structures

1Q08

2Q09

127.0

12 Mar 08

Malaysia

Transport and install pipelines

2Q08

3Q08

29.0

4 Sep 08

CUEL / Thailand

Engineer, transport & install various offshore structures and
pipelines

1Q09

4Q13

–

1

Value
(US$’m)

Offshore Marine Support
Date

Client/ Country

Work Scope

Start

Target
Completion

Value
(US$’m)

6 Oct 08

PTSC Marine Co.,
Ltd/Vietnam

6-mth charter contract for AHTS, Swiber Ada, at rate of US$13,500
per day with two 6-mth extension options

4Q08

2Q09

7.3

13 Oct 08

India

Provide subsea diving support services

4Q08

1Q09

7.0

Shipbuilding and Repair

1

Date

Client/ Country

Work Scope

Start

Target
Completion

26 Feb 08

Malaysia

Design, engineer & fabricate SPM buoy

1Q08

2Q08

3.4

26 Feb 08

OBT PL

Construct & install two floating crane barges

1Q08

4Q08

17.0

29 Apr 08

NuCoastal / Thailand

EPC of one SPM buoy

2Q08

4Q08

7.7

2

Value
(US$’m)

Project is to provide offshore installation services in the Gulf of Thailand for CUEL’s various clients at an estimated annual value of approximately US$50 million per year for a period of up
to five years.

2

A US$25 million drilling project, using the Swiber Jack-up N1, was awarded to Swiber in November 2007. This contract was suspended mutually and the vessel was subsequently charted
to NuCoastal as a jack-up platform in December 2008.
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Financing strategy for vessels investment
In our Company’s 2007 annual report, I announced
our plan for a deepwater drill ship to spearhead
our subsea activities. The Equatorial Driller was
targeted to be completed by 2010, but due to
the current economic uncertainties, Swiber has
decided to put it on hold and will re-evaluate this
at a suitable time in the future. Notwithstanding
this, Swiber has mapped out a mid-term vessel
expansion strategy that will see us own and
operate 52 vessels by the end of 2010. 10 of these
new vessels comprising three AHTS, four tugs
and three flat top cargo barges were delivered in
FY2008, and a further three construction vessels
were delivered in the first three months of 2009,
bringing Swiber’s fleet to a total of 36 vessels as
at 31 March 2009.

I reiterate the importance
of our fleet expansion. A sizable
fleet will give us the critical
mass needed to bid for and
handle more offshore projects
as well as substantially expand
and strengthen Swiber’s
presence in our existing and
target markets. In addition, it
will reduce our reliance on
3rd party vessels, thereby
trimming charter costs and
facilitating cost-efficient and
timely project deliveries for
our Company.
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I reiterate the importance of our fleet expansion.
A sizable fleet will give us the critical mass needed
to bid for and handle more offshore projects as
well as substantially expand and strengthen
Swiber’s presence in our existing and target
markets. In addition, it will reduce our reliance on
3rd party vessels, thereby trimming charter costs
and facilitating cost-efficient and timely project
deliveries for our Company.
Swiber has selected financing solutions aimed at
de-leveraging and lightening our balance sheet in
implementing our fleet expansion. The outstanding
commited capital expenditure for Swiber’s
newbuilds is approximately US$318 million and
this amount is fully funded through sale and
leaseback agreements, secured bank loans and
vessel disposals. Taken in light of the current tight
liquidity situation, I believe our success in securing
funding for our new vessels underscores Swiber’s
foresight, prudent financial management and risk
management strategies, and strong fundamentals.
In September 2008, in the midst of the global
crisis, Swiber successfully secured sale and
leaseback agreements for five vessels totaling
US$225 million, bringing the number of vessels
under such arrangements to 15. To date, eight
of these vessels have been delivered and are
in operation, whilst the rest are still under
construction. This asset-light strategy has enabled
Swiber to keep our net debt to equity ratio at a
very reasonable 1.01 times as at 31 December
2008 (FY07: 0.53 times), while at the same time,
allowing Swiber to maintain full operational and
commercial control over the vessels without the
burden of financing them. Very significantly,
Swiber’s net debt to equity ratio will be further
reduced once the remaining seven sale and
leasebacks are delivered to us over the next
two years.
Swiber is also exploring joint ownership of some
offshore vessels between the joint venture
partners and our Company. Apart from lightening
the balance sheet, this route presents multiple
advantages. For a start, it forges a stronger
business relationship and mutual trust between
the two parties, allowing Swiber to gain market

share by tapping on the strengths and network
of the partner, usually a leading player in the
local market. It also facilitates an exchange of
technology, in terms of the technical skills and also
in human resources, which sees mutual benefits to
both partners.
Market expansion through strategic alliances
During the year, Swiber successfully forged
strategic alliances with a number of leading local
oil and gas players in the Middle East, Thailand
and Vietnam, a fast and effective strategy to
amplify our Company’s regional market reach.
In April 2008, we formed a joint venture in Thailand
with CUEL Limited, one of the region’s foremost
offshore EPC fabrication contractors with a strong
track record of projects within the Gulf of Thailand.
Shortly after in September, our partnership with
CUEL yielded a US$50 million per year contract in
Thailand for a 5-year period.
In the Middle East, Swiber joined forces with
Rawabi Holding Company Limited to establish
a 50:50 joint venture, Rawabi Swiber Offshore
Construction Company Limited in October 2008.
Through the joint venture, Swiber plans to develop
offshore EPCIC projects and marine activities in
the Gulf Cooperation Countries (GCC) of Saudi
Arabia, Kuwait, Bahrain, Qatar, United Arab
Emirates and Oman. Operating in Saudi Arabia
and the Middle East for over thirty years, Rawabi
is a leading industrial player in multiple industries
encompassing construction and engineering,
oil and gas, petrochemicals, utilities, power
and electrical, telecommunications & IT, freight
forwarding, marine, trading and manufacturing.
Ongoing training and development programmes
At Swiber, we see our 700-plus employees as
vitally important resources and, as such, every
effort is made to ensure that they stay at the top
of their game through continuous training and
leadership development programmes. In addition
to ongoing training in Quality, Health, Safety and
Environmental matters, with the over reaching
commitment to Cause No Harm, we have also
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initiated a comprehensive Leadership Development
Programme to retain human talent and to create
an environment that enables the delivery of high
performance projects. This programme includes
Personal Effectiveness Training and Emotional
Excellence courses targeted to hone leadership,
management and effectiveness skills, as well as
the emotional intelligence of employees. Through
the programme, Swiber aims to promote cohesion
and optimise performance within the organisation,
and at the end of the day, transform Swiber into a
truly world-class company.
Looking ahead
With a busy and successful year behind us,
Swiber will now turn our energies and resources
to 2009. In light of the present economic
uncertainty, Swiber will maintain a vigilant and
conservative stance to our business. While
shallow water oil and gas activities in Asia Pacific
and the Middle East will be challenging in the next
12 months, our Company believes the long term
fundamentals of the oil and gas industry
remain favourable.
Our confidence in the oil and gas industry lies
in the fact that long-term oil supply is a very
real issue. Oil production from existing fields is
declining at an average of around 4% or 3.3 Mbpd
annually3 . In addition, the current low oil prices
are discouraging oil and gas investment by oil
companies. Against this scenario, the International
Energy Agency (IEA) warns of an oil supply crunch
from 2010 once global demand for oil, which is
currently depressed due to the economic recession,
recovers. It expects the impact of delayed oil and
gas investments to crimp future oil supplies. As
such, the IEA is calling for US$26.3 trillion in oil
and gas investments by 2030 to ensure the world
has enough energy4.
In addition to our continued focus on offshore oil
and gas, Swiber is also exploring opportunities in
offshore wind energy. With our existing engineering
expertise, extensive fleet and a track record of
successful and complex offshore oil and gas
operations, our Company is well-positioned to
provide offshore installation work for offshore

wind farms with no additional capital expenditure.
Offshore wind power is a rapidly expanding industry
and over US$16 billion of capital expenditure is
forecasted to be spent in this sector due to its fastpaced growth and project price increases. According
to the World Offshore Wind Report 2008-2012,
annual expenditure in offshore wind energy will jump
ten-fold from US$527 million in 2007 to US$5.25
billion by 2012. The United Kingdom will see the
greatest level of expenditure along with other major
markets such as Germany, Denmark and Belgium.
With the successes of our strategic alliances
under our belt - CUEL, Petrovietnam Construction
Joint Stock Corporation, Vietsovpetro and Rawabi
- Swiber will continue to focus on this route for
market expansion. We plan to target the Asia
Pacific and the Middle East for our shallow
water business and use these markets as a
springboard to expand to other points in the region.
For our subsea business, we intend to explore
opportunities in India and the Middle East.

To our valued shareholders: Thank you for your
unstinting support during these tumultuous 12
months of FY2008. We intend to repay your loyalty
with continued focus on building and increasing
shareholder value.
To our Lord Jesus: I thank you for this opportunity
to create a world-class enterprise in Swiber. We
have achieved much since our creation but our
journey has not ended. I pray for Your guidance and
blessing in the year ahead, and commit the future
into Your hands. To You be the glory.
Yours sincerely,

Raymond Goh
Executive Chairman and Group CEO
Swiber Holdings Limited

Built to deliver value
Swiber is a world class company that is built to
deliver value and I pledge our commitment to
continue to deliver consistently superior value to
our key stakeholders.
As I said, the road ahead will not be easy. But
I believe that Swiber is a resilient company. And the
great strides we have made over past years
to strengthen the fabric of our business will
provide a firm foundation for us to ride out this
challenging period.
To our board of directors, senior executives and staff:
My heart-felt thanks for a job very well done in 2008.
Your loyalty to Swiber, endless determination to
succeed, and continued optimism in our Company’s
future are truly a blessing to me each day.
To our business partners and customers: Swiber’s
rapid growth and success today would not have
been possible without you. Your confidence in
Swiber is very much appreciated and I hope that
you will continue to extend your support to our
Company in 2009 and beyond.

3

Douglas – Westwood, Global Offshore Prospects February 2009

4

The Business Times, 14 November 2008, “IEA warns of impending energy crunch”

Swiber is a world class
company that is built to
deliver value and I pledge our
commitment to continue to
deliver consistently superior
value to our key stakeholders.
As I said, the road ahead will
not be easy. But I believe that
Swiber is a resilient company.
And the great strides we
have made over past years to
strengthen the fabric of our
business will provide a firm
foundation for us to ride out
this challenging period.
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Management’s Discussion And Analysis
Of FY2008 Results
3 years Financial Performance
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FY08 Financial Highlights
FY2008

FY2007

+ / (-)

428,438

151,177

183.4%

EBITA (US$’000)

62,889

56,172

12.0%

NPAT (US$’000)

39,488

49,706

-20.6%

EPS (US cents)

9.19

12.56

-26.8%

48.85

41.68

17.2%

Revenue (US$’000)

NAV per share (US cents)

The Group’s revenue for FY08 increased by 183.4% from US$151.18 million in FY07 to US$428.44 million in FY08. The increase was mainly due to increased
activities in EPCIC projects which comprises primarily of transportation and installation of offshore pipelines and platforms in Malaysia, Brunei, Indonesia
and India.
The Group’s gross profit margin declined from 28.3% in FY07 to 15.0% in FY08. The decline was mainly attributable to higher cost of sales due to the delayed
delivery of two vessels as well as higher subcontractor costs relating to fabrication of offshore structures. As a result of the delay in vessel delivery, projects
slotted for completion in the 4th quarter of FY08 were not completed. The delay also exacerbated the shortage of construction vessels and resulted in higher cost
due to multiple mobilizations and de-mobilizations of vessels. Both vessels were subsequently delivered in January and February 2009. Overall, the Group’s profit
after tax fell 20.6% reflecting the higher cost of sales.
As at 31 December 2008, the Group had an order book of US$596 million as compared to US$350 million in February 2008.
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Management’s Discussion And Analysis
Of FY2008 Results
Business Segments Review
FY2008
(US$’000)

FY2007
(US$’000)

+ / (-)

Offshore EPCIC
Revenue

296,762

117,096

153.4%

Gross Profit

35,551

28,361

25.4%

Gross Profit Margin

12.0%

24.2%

-50.4%

Revenue

91,936

22,419

310.1%

Gross Profit

18,613

9,867

88.6%

Gross Profit Margin

20.2%

44.0%

-54.1%

Revenue

39,740

11,662

240.8%

Gross Profit

10,181

4,611

120.8%

Gross Profit Margin

25.6%

39.5%

-35.2%

428,438

151,177

183.4%

Gross Profit

64,345

42,839

50.2%

Gross Profit Margin

15.0%

28.3%

-47.0%

Offshore Marine Support

Shipbuilding & Repair

Total
Revenue

As at 31 December 2008, the Group operated a fleet of 32 vessels compared to 28 vessels at the end of FY07. While Offshore EPCIC will continue to be the main
contributor to the Group’s revenue for the next few years, with the Group’s mid-term vessel expansion strategy to increase the fleet to 52 vessels by the end of
2010, we expect the contribution from the Offshore Marine Support and Shipbuilding & Repair segments to continue to grow.
Cashflow
FY2008
(US$’000)
Net cash generated / (used in) from operating activities

121

FY2007
(US$’000)
(16,835)

Net cash used in investing activities

(204,704)

(58,845)

Net cash generated from financing activities

190,846

148,466

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

(13,737)

72,786

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year

82,632

9,443

(808)

403

68,087

82,632

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

The Group’s total equity increased from US$177.5 million in FY07 to US$207.1 million mainly due to the US$39.5 million profit for the year ended 31 December
2008. The Group’s net debt to equity ratio is 1.01 times largely due to bank borrowing and issuance of bonds to finance the Group’s capital expenditure programme
and working capital.
Cash and cash equivalents decreased mainly due to net cash used in investing activities for the purchase of vessels which was offset by net cash generated from
financing activities as a result of proceeds from new bank loans and issue of bonds.
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Board of Directors
Raymond Goh

Executive Chairman and
Group Chief Executive Officer

Mr Raymond Goh, who founded the Swiber Group in
1996, was appointed to the Board on 12 November
2004 and has been the key figure in mapping out
the strategic directions for Swiber’s business.
He is instrumental in leading Swiber’s overall
business, operations and marketing aspects in
the region. As the Chief Executive Officer of the
Group, Mr Goh also sets the long-term expansion
strategy for Swiber and is currently spearheading
the Group’s dynamic expansion. These include
growth initiatives to expand the Group’s resources,
to develop new markets and to invest in new vessel
designs and technology. In addition, given his
visionary foresight and ability to identify talent,
Mr Goh is also actively leading Swiber’s human
resource expansion. Prior to founding Swiber, Mr
Goh was a marketing executive in Jaya Marine
Lines Pte Ltd from 1993 to 1996, where he was
responsible for marketing and sales operations
in Indonesia. Mr Goh graduated from Murdoch
University in Australia in 1993 with a Bachelor of
Commerce (Honours) degree. Currently, he is an
active patron for North Punggol.

Jean Pers

Executive Director

Mr Jean Pers joined Swiber in 2002, bringing with
him 30 years of engineering experience in the
Offshore EPCIC business mainly in the North Sea.
He was appointed to the Board of Directors in
2005. Previously, he was: Head of the Marine
Department at IKL Indonesia from 1997 to 2000;
Project Manager at EURODIM France from 1991
to 1997 and; Advisor to Voies Navigables de
France. Since 1988, Mr Pers has been a member
of CNEDIES Centre Nationale des Experts, an
organisation that provides expertise to analyse the
causes of industrial accidents.

Francis Wong

Executive Director

Mr Francis Wong joined Swiber in 2005 and was
appointed to the Board of Directors in the same
year. Previously, he was: Executive Director at
Genesis Equity (SA) Pty Ltd from 2000 to 2005;
Group Financial Controller and Chief Financial
Officer of Pan Pacific Asia Bhd from 1995 to 1999;
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Manager at Ernst & Young (Malaysia) from
1993 to 1995 and; Audit Supervisor at Coopers &
Lybrand (New Zealand) from 1988 to 1993.
Mr Wong is an associate member of the Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators; a
certified practicing accountant of CPA Australia;
and a chartered accountant certified by the
Malaysian Institute of Accountants and the New
Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants.

Darren Yeo

Executive Director

Mr Darren Yeo joined the Group in 2003, was
appointed to the Board on 12 November 2004
and is responsible for the management and
development of the Group’s Offshore Marine
Support business operations. He was appointed
as Chief Executive Officer of Kreuz International
in 2008. Before joining the Group, Mr Yeo was the
Marketing Manager at Labroy Marine Ltd from
1995 to 2003. He was responsible for marketing
vessels for chartering, sales of newly built vessels
and overseeing the repair of vessels at the
company’s shipyard in Batam, Indonesia. From
1993 to 1995, he was a design engineer for ST
Aerospace Limited, where he was involved in the
design and engineering development of military
aircraft engines. Mr Yeo graduated from the
National University of Singapore in 1993 with a
Bachelor of Engineering degree. He later obtained
a diploma in Marketing from the Singapore
Institute of Management in 1995.

Nitish Gupta

Executive Director

Mr Nitish Gupta was appointed to the Board of
Directors in March 2009. He first joined Swiber
in 2006 as Executive Vice President of Offshore
Construction and he was appointed to the role of
Chief Executive Officer of that business unit in
2008. He has close to 20 years of experience in the
offshore oil and gas industry, having worked for
a number of offshore construction companies in
India, Southeast Asia and the Middle East since
1992. Prior to Swiber, Mr Gupta has held key roles
in established organisations that include Global
Industries (from 2005 to 2006; and from 1998 to
2001); Horizon Offshore Contractors (from 2001
to 2005); J. Ray McDermott, (from 1995 to 1998),
and Offshore Pipelines International, (from 1992

to 1995). Mr Gupta graduated from Delhi College
of Engineering, Delhi University in India with a
Bachelor in Civil Engineering (Honours).

Yeo Jeu Nam

Lead Independent Director

Mr Yeo Jeu Nam, who has more than 30 years of
consultancy experience, was appointed to the
Board of Directors in 2006. Mr Yeo is also an
Independent Director of EDMI Limited as well as
Enzer Corporation Limited and the Founder and
Managing Director of Radiance Consulting Pte
Ltd. Before starting his own consultancy, he was
a Senior Consulting Partner with Ernst & Young
Consultants Pte Ltd where he headed the Strategy
and Transformation practice as well as the HR

From left to right: Darren Yeo, Leonard Tay, Jean Pers, Nitish Gupta, Raymond Goh, Oon Thian Seng, Yeo Jeu Nam, Francis Wong

Consulting practice for more than 12 years. He
was also previously a Director at PwC Consulting
where he headed their Public Sector Consulting
practice before leaving to start his own consulting
business.

Leonard Tay

Independent Director

Mr Leonard Tay is currently an Executive Director
of Enzer Corporation Limited. He was previously
the Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer
of Altitude Trust Management Pte. Ltd., the
trustee manager of Altitude Aircraft Leasing Trust.
Under his belt, he has over a decade of financial
management experience and was appointed
to Swiber’s Board of Directors in 2006. Prior to

that, he was the Chief Financial Officer of AGVA
Corporation Limited which is listed on the SGXST. Mr Tay has also spent nine years in public
accounting with the Big Four accounting firms.
Mr Tay holds a Bachelors degree in Business from
Monash University and is a member of the Institute
of Certified Public Accountants of Singapore, CPA
Australia, the Singapore Human Resource Institute
and the Singapore Institute of Directors.

Mr Oon holds a Bachelor of Laws (Honours) degree
from the University of Warwick and a Master
of Laws from the London School of Economics,
University of London in England. He was admitted
to the Bar of England and Wales in 1991 and as
an Advocate and Solicitor of the Supreme Court of
Singapore in 1993 and the High Court of Malaya
in 2001.

Oon Thian Seng

Independent Director

Mr Oon Thian Seng is an advocate and solicitor
and is a partner of TS Oon & Bazul, Singapore and
TS Oon & Partners, Malaysia since 2002. He was
appointed to the Board of Directors in 2006.
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Nitish Gupta

Francis Wong

Jean Pers

Ronald L. Schakosky

Mark Leong

Deepak Kingsley

Curt Walters

Pooranathen Elliappan

Kelvin Yeo

Kurush Contractor

Joseph Chen

Chia Fook Eng

Cyrus Cama

Peter J. Worrall

Captain Hendrik Eddy Purnomo

David Chu

K G Remesh

Richard J. Pursell
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Sheldon Richard Hutton

Angat Anum Lingoh

Key Management
Offshore Construction Services
Operated through subsidiary,
Swiber Offshore Construction
Nitish Gupta

Chief Executive Officer – Offshore
Construction

Mr Nitish Gupta joined Swiber in 2006 as
Executive Vice President of Offshore Construction
and was appointed to the role of Chief Executive
Officer of this unit in 2008. Having worked for
a number of established offshore oil and gas
construction companies since 1992, Mr Gupta
has extensive industry experience in India,
Southeast Asia and the Middle East. He began his
career as a field engineer in Offshore Pipelines
International, Inc. and subsequently joined J
Ray McDermott as Project Engineer, where he
was involved in project planning and logistics
for various offshore projects. Following that, he
joined Global Industries, as Project Manager and
moved on to become Project Director. Mr Gupta
also held the post of Project Manager for
Horizon Offshore Contractors. Mr Gupta
graduated from Delhi College of Engineering,
Delhi University in India with a Bachelor in
Civil Engineering (Honours).

Jean Pers

Senior Executive Vice President

Mr Jean Pers joined Swiber in 2002, bringing with
him 30 years of engineering experience in the
Offshore EPCIC business mainly in the North Sea.
He was appointed to the Board of Directors in
2005. Previously, he was: Head of the Marine
Department at IKL Indonesia from 1997 to 2000;
Project Manager at EURODIM France from 1991
to 1997 and; Advisor to Voies Navigables de
France. Since 1988, Mr Pers has been a member
of CNEDIES Centre Nationale des Experts, an
organisation that provides expertise to analyse
the causes of industrial accidents.

Francis Wong

Group Chief Financial Officer and
Executive Vice President

Mr Francis Wong joined Swiber in 2005 and was
appointed to the Board of Directors in the same
year. Previously, he was: Executive Director at
Genesis Equity (SA) Pty Ltd from 2000 to 2005;
Group Financial Controller and Chief Financial
Officer of Pan Pacific Asia Bhd from 1995 to

1999; Manager at Ernst & Young (Malaysia) from
1993 to 1995 and; Audit Supervisor at Coopers &
Lybrand (New Zealand) from 1988 to 1993.
Mr Wong is an associate member of the Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators; a
certified practicing accountant of CPA Australia;
and a chartered accountant certified by the
Malaysian Institute of Accountants and the New
Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants.

Industries. Amongst many others, Mr Worrall’s
extensive expertise includes pipe-lay through
conventional lay barges and the rentis line
installation system, jacket and deck installation.
Mr Worrall attended Kintore Ave Trade School
Adelaide for a Fitting and Turning Indentureship
from 1966-1967. He holds a certificate from
Seaton Park High Technical.

Deepak Kingsley

Quality, Health, Safety and Environment
(QHSE) Advisor to the Board of Directors

Mr Deepak Kingsley joined Swiber in 2008 as
General Counsel. In his role as General Counsel,
Mr Kingsley oversees the Group’s legal affairs
and advises the Chairman and management
on such matters. Prior to joining Swiber, Mr
Kingsley was heading the Legal Department of
Nippon Steel Engineering Co Ltd covering South
East Asia. Mr Kingsley has 18 years of legal
experience and has headed legal departments
and been counsel in other large construction and
engineering companies. Mr Kingsley is a qualified
Advocate in India and a Solicitor in Hong Kong.
Mr Kingsley holds a Bachelor of Laws degree and
a Bachelor of Commerce degree from University
of Madras.

Mr Richard J. Pursell joined Swiber in 2007
to provide top-down counsel on corporate
responsibility and to guide the company on a
process of continuous improvement. He is an
experienced Occupational Quality, Health, Safety
and Environmental practitioner with more than
23 years of practical application in multicultural
and multidisciplinary environments. He is a
Certified Safety Executive for the World Safety
Organisation; an Accredited Safety Auditor
for International Loss Control Institute; and is
certified by Det Norske Veritas for Qualitative Risk
Assessment and Environmental Management;
by ICI Engineering for Hazard Management
and by Philip Crosby and Associates for Quality
Management Systems.

General Counsel

Ronald L. Schakosky

Chief Marketing Officer and Vice President

Mr Ronald L. Schakosky joined Swiber in 2007
to spearhead the development of its Floating
Production Systems business in Asia Pacific
and the Middle East. Mr Schakosky has more
than 30 years of experience in the oil and gas
industry spanning diverse geographical markets
such as Africa, Middle East and the Far East.
Prior to joining Swiber, he held various posts
in Newfield Exploration, Pearl Oil, Unocal Oil
Corp, MODEC Inc., Petronas Carigali Sdn Bhd,
and Dubai Petroleum Company. Mr Schakosky
holds a BSC Mechanical Engineering from
Midwestern University.

Peter J. Worrall

Vice President and General
Manager – Operations

Mr Peter J. Worrall joined Swiber in 2007 to lead
the offshore installation-related work for Swiber’s
Offshore EPCIC operations. He has more than
36 years of hands-on experience in the offshore
oilfield construction industry having managed
offshore oil and gas projects in Asia for major
corporations such as Horizon Offshore and Global

Richard J. Pursell

Curt Walters

Vice President – Group Quality, Health,
Safety and Environment (QHSE)

Mr Curt Walters joined Swiber in September
2008 as the VP for QHSE. He has served across
a broad spectrum of assignments within his 30
years of experience in the offshore industry. Prior
to joining Swiber, he held the position of Health,
Safety, Security and Environmental Manager in
British Petroleum in Cairo, and various QHSE
positions in companies including Chevron
Texaco and CUEL. He holds a Bachelor degree in
Nursing from Arizona State University. With his
primary medical background, Mr Walters is keen
on highlighting the “health aspect” of QHSE
in all its awareness campaigns and training
programs on safety. Mr Walters has a Diploma
in International Safety Management from British
Safety Council and is an IRCA Certified Lead
Auditor – ISO & ISM.

Joseph Chen

Vice President – Brunei

Mr Joseph Chen joined Swiber in 2007 to
spearhead operations in Brunei Darussalam

Swiber Annual Report 2008

25

and drive the Group’s expansion, strategic
alliances and activities in Asia Pacific and the
Middle East. Previously, Mr Chen was Business
Development Manager in a Brunei-based civil
and mechanical Oil and Gas Petrochemicalrelated construction company. With over 30 years
of management experience, he has held various
senior administration and business management
positions in several regional companies in Brunei.
He holds a Master of Business Administration
Degree, University of Southern Cross, Australia
(Best Graduate) and a Business Diploma in
Industrial Administration, School of Accountancy
and Business Studies, UK.

Angat Anum Lingoh

Managing Director – Swiber Marine
Malaysia

Mr Angat Anum Lingoh, who has 26 years
of experience in the oil and gas industry, is
responsible for operations and development
of Swiber Malaysia. Mr Anum has worked for
Shell Operating Companies in South East Asia,
Nigeria, South Korea and Australia (Woodside
Petroleum), mainly in Pipeline Engineering and
Project Management. Prior to joining the Swiber
Group in 2008, his last posting was at Chevron
Oil in Kazakhstan. Mr Anum graduated in 1982
from Newcastle-upon-Tyne, England with BSc in
Mechanical Engineering.

K G Remesh

Vice President – India and Middle East

Mr K G Remesh joined Swiber in 2008 as Vice
President of its India and Middle East operations.
He is an Honours graduate in Engineering
from NIIT Calicut India. Mr Remesh brings
with him over 30 years of rich experience as a
chief engineer, engineering manager, and in
project management, business development
and contracting in the offshore and onshore oil
and gas fields. He has held several important
positions in different organisations in upstream
oil and gas fields including engineering manager,
proposal manager, project manager, and project
director. His areas of expertise include EPCC
projects involving jackets / decks and subsea
flexible and rigid pipe lines.

Captain Hendrik Eddy Purnomo
Vice President – Indonesia

Captain Hendrik Eddy Purnomo heads Swiber’s
Indonesian Operations as Vice President. He
joined Swiber in 1996 as President Director of

26

Swiber Annual Report 2008

our Indonesian subsidiary, PT Swiber Berjaya.
He brings with him 20 years experience in the
management and operations of marine vessels
in Indonesia and the handling of maritime
disputes as well as experience in the local
shipping law. Captain Purnomo graduated from
the Indonesia Merchant Marine Academy in 1979
as a qualified mate of ocean-going and mate of
anchor handling tug supply boats. In addition,
he is an Associate of the Chartered Institute of
Arbitrators, UK and a Member of the Western
Australian Institute of Dispute Management,
Murdoch University law school.

Pooranathen Elliappan,

Vice President – Corporate and Commercial
Services

Mr Elliappan joined Swiber in 2007 as Vice
President of Corporate and Commercial Services.
Part of his responsibilities is to ratchet up
the performance and project deliveries of the
Group. Mr Elliappan brings to Swiber 26 years
of experience in Supply Chain Management. Mr.
Elliappan graduated with a B. Tech (Chemical
Engineering) degree from Madras University
and M. Sc. (Process Analysis and Development)
degree from University of Aston, Birmingham.
After a short stint as process engineer in a
Petronas refinery project, Mr Elliappan moved
on to project and supply chain management
functions in various oil and gas companies
including Brunei Shell Petroleum Company. Mr
Elliappan makes a seismic addition to the talent
pipeline of Swiber’s Senior Leadership Team.

David Chu

Manager of Projects

Mr David Chu joined Swiber in May 2008 to
facilitate and oversee the management of
various Offshore Construction overseas
projects. Prior to joining Swiber, he has worked
for Clough as their Project/Contracts Engineer
for four years. Following that, he joined Technip
and McDermott International, Inc for a period
of two years each where he was responsible
for the management, operations and project
risk and planning optimisation, among others,
for major projects. Mr Chu holds a Bachelor’s
degree in Mechanical Engineering and is
currently studying for a Masters of Oil and
Gas Engineering at the University of Western
Australia. He has completed courses in relation
to legal, contractual, risk management and

other technical fields relating to the offshore
construction industry.

Offshore Support Services

Operated through subsidiaries,
Kreuz International and
Kreuz Subsea
Darren Yeo

Chief Executive Officer – Offshore Support

Mr Darren Yeo joined the Group in 2003, was
appointed to the Board on 12 November 2004
and is responsible for the management and
development of the Group’s Offshore Marine
Support business operations. He was appointed
as Chief Executive Officer of Kreuz International
in 2008. Before joining the Group, Mr Yeo was the
Marketing Manager at Labroy Marine Ltd from 1995
to 2003. He was responsible for marketing vessels
for chartering, sales of newly built vessels and
overseeing the repair of vessels at the company’s
shipyard in Batam, Indonesia. From 1993 to
1995, he was a design engineer for ST Aerospace
Limited, where he was involved in the design
and engineering development of military aircraft
engines. Mr Yeo graduated from the National
University of Singapore in 1993 with a Bachelor of
Engineering degree. He later obtained a diploma
in Marketing from the Singapore Institute of
Management in 1995.

Kelvin Yeo

Vice President – Commercial and Business
Development

Mr Kelvin Yeo is responsible for the commercial
management and business development of the
Kreuz group. He additionally oversees the marine
business and is head of the group’s shipyard and
new construction division. Mr Yeo joined Swiber
in 2007 to initially spearhead operations and
business development in Australia. With over 12
years of experience in senior management and
commercial roles, Mr Yeo has a well-rounded
background in the offshore oil and gas, shipping
and maritime industries. Previously, he was
Business Development Manager for Australian
EPCIC contractor, Clough Limited. Mr Yeo
graduated from the University of Western Australia
in 1996 with a Bachelor of Commerce degree with
double majors in accounting and finance.

Deepak Kingsley
General Counsel

(See profile on page 25 of this annual report)

Mark Leong

Chief Financial Officer and Vice President
Mr Mark Leong is responsible for the accounting
and finance functions of Kreuz International
Pte Ltd and its subsidiaries. Prior to joining the
Group in 2007, Mr Leong was the Group Financial
Controller of Westcomb Financial Group Limited.
He was with Westcomb from 2002 to 2007 and
was involved in its initial public offering on the
SGX-ST in 2004. Between 2001 and 2002, Mr
Leong was the financial accountant of NASDAQ
listed II-VI Group and was in charge of overseeing
the financial reporting of its Singapore and China
subsidiaries. Mr Leong started his career in
audit with KPMG in 1999 and was also involved
in several initial public offering projects. He left
KMPG as an Audit Senior in 2001. Mr Leong is a
Fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants (ACCA) as well as a Certified Public
Accountant with the Institute of Certified Public
Accountants of Singapore (ICPAS).

Richard J. Pursell

Quality, Health, Safety and Environment
(QHSE) Advisor to the Board of Directors

(See profile on page 25 of this annual report)

Curt Walters

Vice President – Group Quality, Health,
Safety and Environment (QHSE)

(See profile on page 25 of this annual report)

Chia Fook Eng

Advisor to the Board of Directors

Mr Chia Fook Eng serves as an advisor to Swiber’s
Board of Directors on matters relating to the
Group’s onshore construction and fabrication
business and ship repair activities. Mr Chia
comes from a strong marine engineering
background, bringing with him almost 40 years
of management experience in these areas. He
has worked for established engineering and
construction companies in Singapore and the
region that include among others Sime Sembcorp
Engineering Sdn Bhd.

Subsea Division
Kurush Contractor

Chief Executive Officer – Kreuz Subsea

Backed by more than 24 years of experience in

the offshore industry, Mr Contractor has joined
the Group as the Chief Executive Officer for
Kreuz Subsea in August 2008. He is currently
spearheading the formation and growth of
the Group’s subsea activities including NDT
inspection and Construction related work
scopes. Previously, he has held the positions of
Vice President and Senior Director with Global
Industries for India and Middle East operations
serving the Company for 11 years. Mr Contractor
is a BS graduate from Bombay University, India
and a qualified commercial deep sea diver
certified by the Health and Safety Executive (HSE)
of UK. He has worked offshore as a commercial
deep sea diver, and in other supervisory positions
prior to his move to the office with Rockwater/
Brown and Root in 1991.

Cyrus Cama

Vice President – Offshore Subsea
Operations

17 years of subsea construction experience
from India, Middle East, South East Asia and
Europe has brought Mr Cyrus Cama to Swiber.
Starting as a diver, he has over the years risen
through the ranks as a Project and Operations
Manager. Having worked with other leading
offshore companies such as Rockwater, Coflexip
Stena Offshore, Stolt Comex Seaways, Global
Industries, Cyrus Cama is also a World Champion
and Olympian Sailor.

Sheldon Richard Hutton

Vice President – Offshore Subsea
Installation

Mr Sheldon Hutton is a world renowned and
respected leader in the underwater construction
business. For the past 30 years, he has played
a vital role in major project completions for
Hyundai, Shell, Exxon, British Petroleum,
Petro Canada, and Global Industries amongst
many others. Starting his career as a Master
underwater welder diver for deep offshore diving
and as a technical advisor, Mr Hutton developed
and pioneered methods for providing costeffective successful completions of various kinds
of subsea construction and installation, enabling
oil companies and producers to get online faster
and safely. Mr Hutton attended Seneca College
in Canada and studied welding to complement
his diving qualifications. In 1999, Mr Hutton
also founded and is the Managing Director of the
Canadian Professional Divers Association
in Canada.

Offshore Drilling Services

Operated through subsidiary,
Equatorial Drilling International
Glen Olivera

Chief Executive Officer – Offshore Drilling

With over 36 years of experience, Mr Glen Olivera
is one of the most experienced land and offshore
O&G drillers with a track record for reducing well
design and operational costs. He is one of the
pioneers for introducing slim hole drilling designs
coupled with Rapid Exploration Techniques. Mr
Olivera has supervised onsite drilling projects
globally and further managed drilling groups that
have drilled in excess of 140 deepwater wells in
Indonesia, Myanmar, Brunei and the Philippines
in water depths ranging from 600m to 2,400m.
He has significant experience drilling in shallow
water shelf operations offshore California, Gulf of
Mexico, Trinidad, Netherlands, and West Africa,
contributing to several techniques advancing
Extended Reach Drilling capabilities for offshore
California, Netherlands and Indonesia. He has
supervised and managed drilling operations of
HTHP wells in Madura Straits, Mobile Bay, and
several deep wells in the challenging formations
of the Rocky Mountain Foothills. Mr Olivera has
also been successful in the development of prelaid
deepwater mooring, employing taut designs using
synthetic ropes. He and his team have recently
completed two shallow water marginal field
development projects which included installing low
cost drilling templates and topsides using a jack
up rig followed by drilling extended reach wells
including completions, resulting in substantial
cost savings for clients.

Deepak Kingsley
General Counsel

(See profile on page 25 of this annual report)

Richard J. Pursell

Quality, Health, Safety and Environment
(QHSE) Advisor to the Board of Directors

(See profile on page 25 of this annual report)

Curt Walters

Vice President – Group Quality, Health, Safety
and Environment (QHSE)

(See profile on page 25 of this annual report)

Swiber Annual Report 2008

27

Swiber’s Fleet
From just 10 vessels in 2006, Swiber has expanded dynamically to own and
operate a fleet of 32 modern, well equipped vessels as at 31 December
2008, comprising 27 offshore vessels and 5 construction vessels. We will
expand this fleet to 48 vessels by FY2009, and 52 vessels by FY2010 as
part of our strategy to strengthen our market presence and reduce our
reliance, and thus charter costs, on third party vessels. Notably, despite the
present banking crisis, Swiber’s capital expenditure for our new vessels is
fully funded from sources that include sale and leaseback arrangements,
secured bank loans and vessel disposals.
Swiber Conquest

Swiber Ada

Swiber Gallant

Da Li Hao

Swiber Victorious

Swiber SLB-1

Fleet Overview (Vessels in operation as at end of each period)
Offshore Vessels

FY07

FY08

Additions

FY09F

Cargo / Flat top barge

10

11

+6

17

17

Utility / Towing tugs

4

4

3

4

AHTS / AHT

9

12

Subsea support vessels
TOTAL

+4

16

+2

2

Additions

+2

FY10F

18
2

23

27

+12

38

+2

41

FY07

FY08

Additions

FY09F

Additions

FY10F

Jack-up barge

1

1

Pipelay barge

1

1

+2

1

+2

Construction Vessels

Derrick pipelay barge
Accommodation barge

1

1

3

3

1

1

3

3
1

Submersible barge

2

1

1

Derrick crane barge

1

1

1

+1

2

TOTAL

5

5

+4

10

+1

11

GRAND TOTAL

28

32

+16

48

+3

52
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Fleet List (As at 31 December 2008)
Construction Vessels

Class

Vessels to be Delivered
Year Built

Accommodation barge
1. Swiber Glorious (300-men)

ABS

Vessel Type

FY2009

AHT/AHTS

1. Swiber Sanderfjord

1. Kreuz TBN 21

2. Swiber Oslo1

2. Kreuz TBN 31

2006

FY2010
1

3. Kreuz TBN 11

Pipelay barge
2. Swiber Conquest1

BV

2007

CCS

1980

4. Swiwar TBN

Derrick crane barge
3. Da Li Hao

Cargo / Flat top
barges

5. Kreuz 281
6. Kreuz 282

Jack-up barge
4. Swiber Jack-up N1

BV

7. Kreuz 283

2006

8. Kreuz 284

Submersible barge
5. Swiber SLB-1

BV

2008

Offshore Vessels

Class

Year Built

9. Kreuz 331
10. Kreuz 332

Utility/Towing tugs 2
1. Swiber Eagle

NKK

2006

2. Swiber Phoenix

BKI

1998

3. Sea Speed

ISS

1994

4. Swissco 99

BV

1998

ABS

1974 (Rebuilt 1994)

BV

2007

7. Swiber Navigator

BV

2007

1

8. Swiber Valiant

GL

2006

9. Swiber Gallant1

GL

2006

10. Swiber Singapore

BV

2007

11. Swiwar Challenger

BV

2007

12. Swiwar Venturer

ABS

2007

13. Swiwar Victor

ABS

2007

14. Swiber Trader

DNV

1979

BV

2008

BV

2008

Subsea support
vessels

12. Kreuz DSV 21
Pipelay barge

AHT/AHTS
5. Swiber Captain
6. Swiber Explorer1
1

15. Swiber Ada1
16. Swiber Torunn

1

Cargo/Flat top barge
ABS

2007

18. Swiber 251

ABS

2005

19. Swiber 252

BV

2005

20. Swiber 253

BV

2006

21. Swiber 254

GL

2007

22. Swiber 255

GL

2006

23. Swiber 282

GL

2006

24. Swiber 283

ABS

2006

25. Kreuz 231

BV

2008

26. Kreuz 232

BV

2008

27. Kreuz 241

NKK

2006

13. Swiber Enterprise
(300-men)
14. Swiber Concorde1
(248-men)

Derrick pipelay
barge

15. Swiber Chai
(300-men)

Derrick crane
barge
Accommodation
barge

3. Swiber Magnificent
(280-men)
16. Swiber Supporter
(180-men)
17. Swiber Victorious
(300-men)

1

17. Swiber 123

11. Kreuz DSV 11

2

Vessels under sale and leaseback arrangements
Towing tugs delivered in FY 2008–Swiber Hawk, Swiber Pelican, Swiber
Lark and Swiber Falcon–were disposed of during the year.

Note: Swiber Supporter was delivered in January 2009, Swiber Concorde was delivered in February 2009, and Swiber Victorious was delivered in March
2009. With these, Swiber’s fleet as at 31 March 2009 was 36 vessels comprising 28 offshore and 8 construction vessels.
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Corporate
Structure

Swiber
Rahaman Sdn
Bhd (Brunei)
51%
Swiber Offshore
Sdn Bhd
(Brunei)
100%
Swiber Offshore
(India) Pte Ltd
(India)
100%
PT Swiber
Offshore
(Indonesia)
99.5%

Offshore
Construction
Services
Division

PT Swiber
Berjaya
(Indonesia)
80%

Swiber Maritime
Limited (Seychelles)
100%

Swiwar Offshore
PL (Singapore)
50%

Swiber Marine
PL (Singapore)
100%

Rawabi Swiber
Offshore
Construction
Co. Ltd.
(Saudi)
50%

Swiber Offshore
Marine PL
(Singapore)
100%
Swiber Offshore
Construction PL
(Singapore)
100%
Swiber
Engineering Ltd
(Labuan)
100%

Swiber
Holdings
Limited

OBT Holdings
PL (Singapore)
30%
Victorious LLC
(Marshall Island)
49%

Swiber Marine
(Malaysia) Sdn
Bhd (Malaysia)
100%

PT Kreuz Berjaya
(Indonesia)
49%

Kreuz Subsea
PL (Singapore)
70%

Offshore
Support
Services
Division

Kreuz
International PL
(Singapore)
100%

Kreuz
Engineering Ltd
(Labuan)
100%
Kreuz
Shipbuilding &
Engineering PL
(Singapore)
100%
Kreuz Offshore
Marine PL
(Singapore)
100%

Offshore
Drilling
Services
Division
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Equatorial
Drilling
International PL
(Singapore)
90%

Perfect Motive
Sdn Bhd
(Malaysia)
20%

Principia Asia
Pacific Engineering
PL (Singapore)
49%

Equatorial Drilling
Services PL
(Singapore)
100%
Equatorial Driller
PL (Singapore)
100%

Equatorial
Offshore Drilling
PL (Singapore)
100%

Subsidiary
Joint Ventures
Associates

Corporate Information
Board of Directors

Share Registrar

Raymond Goh, Executive Chairman & Group CEO
Jean Pers, Executive Director
Darren Yeo, Executive Director
Francis Wong, Executive Director
Nitish Gupta, Executive Director
Yeo Jeu Nam, Lead Independent Director
Leonard Tay, Independent Director
Oon Thian Seng, Independent Director

Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte Ltd
3 Church Street
#08-01 Samsung Hub
Singapore 049483

Company Secretaries
Lee Bee Fong
Tan Ping Ping

Executive Committee
Raymond Goh, Chairman
Jean Pers
Darren Yeo
Francis Wong
Nitish Gupta

Audit Committee
Leonard Tay, Chairman
Oon Thian Seng
Yeo Jeu Nam
Francis Wong

Principal Bankers
DBS Bank Limited
6 Shenton Way
DBS Building Tower One
Singapore 068809
United Overseas Bank Limited
80 Raffles Place
UOB Plaza
Singapore 048624

Auditors
Deloitte & Touche LLP
Public Accountants and
Certified Public Accountants
6 Shenton Way
#32-00 DBS Building Tower 2
Singapore 068809
Partner-in-charge: Ernest Kan Yaw Kiong
(Appointed with effect from financial year
ended 31 December 2005)

Legal Advisor
Wong Partnership
One George Street #20-01
Singapore 049145

Citibank N.A.
3 Temasek Avenue
Centennial Tower
Singapore 039190
Malayan Banking Berhad
2 Battery Road
Maybank Tower #03-01
Singapore 049907

Remuneration Committee
Yeo Jeu Nam, Chairman
Leonard Tay
Oon Thian Seng

Nominating Committee
Oon Thian Seng, Chairman
Leonard Tay
Yeo Jeu Nam

Registered Office
12 International Business Park
Cyberhub@IBP #04-01
Singapore 609920
T: +65 6505 0800
F: +65 6505 0802
www.swiber.com

Rabo Bank
77 Robinson Road
#09-00
Singapore 068896
Bank of America
9 Raffles Place #18-00
Republic Plaza Tower 1
Singapore 048619
CIMB Bank Berhad
50 Raffles Place #09-01
Singapore Land Tower
Singapore 048623
Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited
65 Chulia Street
OCBC Centre
Singapore 049513
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Corporate Directory
MAIN OFFICE

MALAYSIA - KUALA LUMPUR & LABUAN

INDIA - MUMBAI

Swiber Holdings Limited
(Registration. No.: 200414721N)

Swiber Marine (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd

Swiber Offshore (India) Pte Ltd

Suite 16-15 & 16-16
Wisma UOA II
No. 21, Jalan Pinang,
50450 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
T: (60) 3 2166 2152
F: (60) 3 2166 2157

406, Gateway Plaza, Hiranandani
Gardens, Powai, Mumbai-400076, India
T: (91) 22 6725 3860
F: (91) 22 6725 3861

Swiber Engineering Ltd
Kreuz Engineering Ltd

Swiber Offshore Construction Pte Ltd
(Brunei Branch)
Swiber Offshore Sdn Bhd
Swiber Rahaman (B) Sdn Bhd

12 International Business Park
Cyberhub @ IBP #04-01
Singapore 609920
T: (65) 6505 0800
F: (65) 6505 0802
www.swiber.com
SINGAPORE
Swiber Offshore Construction Pte Ltd
Swiber Offshore Marine Pte Ltd
Swiber Marine Pte Ltd
Swiwar Offshore Pte Ltd

12 International Business Park
Cyberhub @ IBP #04-01
Singapore 609920
T: (65) 6505 0800
F: (65) 6505 0801
Kreuz International Pte Ltd
Kreuz Offshore Marine Pte Ltd
Kreuz Subsea Pte Ltd

12 International Business Park
Cyberhub @ IBP #03-02
Singapore 609920
T: (65) 6505 0600
F: (65) 6505 0601
www.kreuzinternational.com
Equatorial Drilling International Pte Ltd
Equatorial Drilling Services Pte Ltd
Equatorial Driller Pte Ltd

12 International Business Park
Cyberhub @ IBP #02-02
Singapore 609920
T: (65) 6505 0900
F: (65) 6505 0901
Principia Asia Pacific Engineering Pte Ltd

12 International Business Park
Cyberhub@IBP #02-03
Singapore 609920
T: (65) 6505 0300
F: (65) 6505 0301
Kreuz Shipbuilding & Engineering Pte Ltd

23 Tuas Crescent
Singapore 638717
T: (65) 6577 4800
F: (65) 6577 4801
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Floor 15(A2), Main Office Tower
Financial Park Labuan Complex, Jalan Merdeka
87000 WP Labuan, Malaysia
T: (60) 8745 3288 / (60) 8743 9688
F: (60) 8745 1288
THAILAND - BANGKOK
Equatorial Drilling Services Pte Ltd

One Pacific Place Building
140 Sukhumvit Road
12th Floor Unit 1204
Klongtoey, Bangkok, Thailand
T: (66) 2 653 2106
F: (66) 2 653 2108

BRUNEI

Lot 2050, Simpang 74,
Jalan Lorong Setia Di-Raja,
Kuala Belait KA3131
Brunei Darussalam
T: (673) 3337230
F: (673) 3337234
and
P.O. Box 6
Kuala Belait KA1189
Brunei Darussalam
MIDDLE EAST - SAUDI ARABIA

INDONESIA - JAKARTA & BATAM

Rawabi Swiber Offshore Construction Co. Ltd.

PT Swiber Berjaya
PT Swiber Offshore

PO Box 79800
Al-Khobar 31952
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia
T: (966) (3) 864 9909
F: (966) (3) 865 7379

Menara Jamsostek, Gedung Menara
Utara, 12th Floor, Jl. Jend Gatot Subroto No. 38
Jakarta 12710, Indonesia
T: (62) 21 5296 1960
F: (62) 21 5296 1961
PT Swiber Berjaya (Batam Branch)

Graha Pena Batam, Floor #3A-05
Jl. Raya Batam Centre, Teluk Tering Nongsa
Batam 29461, Indonesia
T: (62) 778 462202
F: (62) 778 462206

Corporate Governance Statement
The Board of Directors (the “Board”) is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate governance within the Group and adopts practices based on the
Code of Corporate Governance 2005 (the “Code”) where it is applicable and practical to the Group. The Company recognizes the importance of good governance for
continued growth and investor confidence.
The Board is pleased to report compliance of the Company with the Code except where otherwise stated.

BOARD MATTERS
Principle 1: Board’s Conduct of its Affairs

Every company should be headed by an effective Board to lead and control the company. The Board is collectively responsible for the success of the company. The
Board works with Management to achieve this and the Management remains accountable to the Board.
The Board’s primary role is to protect and enhance long-term shareholder value. Apart from its statutory duties and responsibilities, the Board sets strategy for the
Group, oversees the executive management and affairs of the Group. It reviews and advises on overall strategies, policies and objectives, sets goals, supervises
Management, monitors business performance and goals achievement, and assumes responsibility for overall corporate governance of the Group.
The Board is also responsible for the following corporate matters:
(a) Approval of quarterly, half-yearly and year-end results announcement;
(b) Approval of the annual report and accounts;
(c) Convening of shareholders’ meetings;
(d) Major investments and funding;
(e) Interested Person Transaction; and
(f) Material acquisitions and disposal of assets.
Apart from the above, interested person transactions and the Group’s internal audit procedures are reviewed by the Audit Committee and reported to the Board.
The Board meets on a regular basis and as and when necessary to address any specific significant matters that may arise. While the Board considers directors’
attendance at Board meetings to be important, it should not be the main criteria to measure their contributions. The Board also takes into account the contributions
by board members in other forms including periodical reviews, provisions of guidance and advice on various matters relating to the Group.
The Board is assisted by three Board Committees, namely Audit Committee (“AC”), Nominating Committee (“NC”) and Remuneration Committee (“RC”). These
committees function within clearly defined terms of reference and operating procedures, which will be reviewed on a regular basis by the Board. The effectiveness of
each committee will also be constantly reviewed by the Board.
During the financial year, the number of meetings held and the attendance of each member of the Board and Board committees’ meetings are as follows:

No. of meeting held

Board

AC

NC

RC

4

6

1

1

Directors

Number of meetings attended

Raymond Goh

4

N/A

N/A

N/A

Jean Pers

3

N/A

N/A

N/A

Darren Yeo

4

N/A

N/A

N/A

Francis Wong

4

6

N/A

N/A

Leonard Tay

4

6

1

1

Yeo Jeu Nam

4

6

1

1

Oon Thian Seng

3

5

1

1

N/A – Not applicable

After the financial year, the Company had appointed Mr Nitish Gupta as an Executive Director with effect from 19 March 2009. Mr Nitish Gupta will be attending
Board meetings to be held by the Company in year 2009 onwards.
The directors received briefings on regulatory changes to the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) and accounting
standards. The directors also received updates on the business of the Group through regular scheduled meetings and ad hoc Board meetings.
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Corporate Governance Statement
Principle 2: Board Composition and Balance

There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, which is able to exercise objective judgment on corporate affairs independently, in particular, from
Management. No individual or small group of individuals should be allowed to dominate the Board’s decision making.
The Board comprises eight directors of whom five are executive directors and three are independent non-executive directors, with the independent non-executive
directors making up of not less than one third of the Board, thus providing an independent element on the Board capable of exercising objective judgment. The criteria for
independence are determined based on the definition provided in the Code. The directors appointed are qualified professionals who possess a diverse range of expertise
to provide a balanced view within the Board.
The Board considers the present Board size facilitates effective decision making and is appropriate for the nature and scope of the Group’s operations.
The profiles of each of the directors are set out on pages 22 to 23 of this Annual Report.

Principle 3: Chairman and Group Chief Executive Officer

There should be a clear division of responsibilities at the top of the company – the working of the Board and the executive responsibility of the company’s business
– which will ensure a balance of power and authority, such that no one individual represents a considerable concentration of power.
The Chairman of the Board and the Group Chief Executive Officer of the Company is the same person. All major decisions made are subject to majority approval of the
Board and are reviewed by the AC, whose members comprise majority of independent non-executive directors of the Company.
The Chairman and Group Chief Executive Officer of the Company, Mr Raymond Goh, leads the Management in setting strategies, objectives and missions and is
responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Group. The role of Mr Raymond Goh includes the scheduling and chairing of Board meetings, and the controlling of quality,
quantity and timeliness of information supplied to the Board.
Mr Raymond Goh’s performance and remuneration will be reviewed annually by the NC and RC, whose members also comprise only of independent non-executive directors
of the Company. As such, with the strong independent element on the Board that ensures decisions are not based on a considerable concentration of power in a single
individual and the existence of various committees with power and authority to perform key functions believes that there are adequate safeguards in place to ensure an
appropriate balance of power and authority with the spirit of good corporate governance.
Mr Yeo Jeu Nam is the lead independent director of the Company to whom concerns may be conveyed to as and when the need arises.

NOMINATING COMMITTEE
Principle 4: Board Membership

There should be a formal and transparent process for the appointment of new directors to the Board.
The NC comprises Mr Oon Thian Seng, Mr Leonard Tay and Mr Yeo Jeu Nam as members who are independent non-executive directors. Mr Oon Thian Seng is the Chairman
of the NC.
The NC is responsible for:
(a) re-nominating directors (including independent directors) taking into consideration each director’s contribution and performance;
(b) determining annually whether or not a director is independent;
(c) deciding whether or not a director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his duties as a director; and
(d) proposing a set of objective performance criteria to the Board for approval and implementation, to evaluate the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the
contribution of each director to the effectiveness of the Board.
All directors are subject to retirement in accordance with the provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association whereby one third of the Directors are required to retire
(or if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one third) and subject themselves to re-election by shareholders at every annual
general meeting (“AGM”). A newly appointed director must retire and submit himself for re-election at the next AGM following his appointment and, thereafter, shall be
taken into account in determining the number of directors who are to retire by rotation.
At the forthcoming AGM, Mr Raymond Goh, Mr Darren Yeo, Mr Leonard Tay and Mr Nitish Gupta will be retiring by rotation pursuant to the relevant Company’s Articles of
Association. All of them, being eligible for re-election, have offered themselves for re-election.
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Principle 5: Board Performance

There should be a formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the contribution by each director to the effectiveness of the Board.
The Group implemented the Board-approved evaluation process and performance criteria to assess the performance of the Board as a whole as well as the contribution of
each individual director.
The assessment process involves and includes input from the Board members, applying the performance criteria recommended by the NC and approved by the Board. The
directors’ input are collated and reviewed by the Chairman of the NC, who presents a summary of the overall assessment to the NC for review. Areas where the Board’s
performance and effectiveness could be enhanced and recommendations for improvement are then submitted to the Board for discussion and for implementation.

ACCESS TO INFORMATION
Principle 6: Access to Information

In order to fulfil their responsibilities, Board members should be provided with complete, adequate and timely information prior to board meetings and on
an on-going basis.
The Board and the Board Committees are furnished with management reports containing complete, adequate and timely information, and papers containing relevant
background or explanatory information required to support the decision-making process. Management team and the Company’s auditors would also provide additional
information on the matters for discussion.
All directors have separate and independent access to senior management and to the Company Secretary. The Company Secretary administers and prepares minutes of
Board meetings and assists the Chairman in ensuring that Board procedures are followed and that applicable statutory and regulatory rules and regulations are
complied with.
The directors, in furtherance of their duties, are entitled to take independent professional advice at the expense of the Company when necessary.

REMUNERATION MATTERS
Principle 7: Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

There should be a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on executive remuneration and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual directors.
No director should be involved in deciding his own remuneration.
The RC comprises Mr Yeo Jeu Nam, Mr Leonard Tay and Mr Oon Thian Seng who are independent non-executive directors. Mr Yeo Jeu Nam is the Chairman of the RC.
The RC is responsible for:
(a) recommending to the Board a framework of remuneration for the directors and key executives;
(b) determining specific remuneration packages for each executive directors; and
(c) reviewing all aspects of remuneration, including directors’ fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses, the options to be issued under the share option scheme, the awards to
be granted under the share plan and other benefit in-kind.
The Chairman of the RC reviews, for recommendation to the Board, the specific remuneration package for an Executive Director or senior management staff. There are
appropriate and meaningful measures in place for the purpose of assessing the performance of Executive Directors and senior management staff.
Each member of the RC does not participate in any decision concerning his own remuneration.
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Corporate Governance Statement
Principle 8: Level and Mix of Remuneration

The level of remuneration should be appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the directors needed to run the company successfully but companies should avoid
paying more than is necessary for this purpose. A significant proportion of executive directors’ remuneration should be structured so as to link rewards to corporate and
individual performance.
The Company sets remuneration packages to ensure that it is competitive and sufficient to attract, retain and motivate directors and senior management of the
required experience and expertise to run the Group successfully.
The Executive and Non-Executive Directors receive directors’ fees, in accordance with their level of contributions, taking into account factors such as responsibilities,
effort and time spent for serving on the Board and Board Committees. The directors’ fees are recommended by the Board for approval as a lump sum payment at
the AGM.
The Executive Directors of the Company, Mr Raymond Goh, Mr Jean Pers and Mr Darren Yeo and Mr Francis Wong have entered into separate service agreements
with the Company for an initial period of three years (unless otherwise terminated by either party giving not less than six months’ notice to the other). The service
agreements cover the terms of employment and specifically, the salaries and bonuses.

Principle 9: Disclosure on Remuneration

Each company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneration policy, level and mix of remuneration, and the procedure for setting remuneration in the company’s
annual report. It should provide disclosure in relation to its remuneration policies to enable investors to understand the link between remuneration paid to directors and
key executives, and performance.
The following table shows a breakdown of the annual remuneration (in percentage terms) of directors and five key executives of the Group for the financial year
under review.
Salary

Performance
Incentives/ Bonus

Directors’ fees

Others Benefits

Total

%

%

%

%

%

Raymond Goh

26

72

2

-

100

Jean Pers

31

66

3

-

100

Darren Yeo

32

64

4

-

100

Francis Wong

32

64

4

-

100

Leonard Tay

-

-

100

-

100

Yeo Jeu Nam

-

-

100

-

100

Oon Thian Seng

-

-

100

-

100

S$500,000 and above

Below S$250,000

Key Executives
S$500,000 and above

3

S$250,000 to S$499,999

–

Below S$250,000

2

After the financial year, the Company had appointed Mr Nitish Gupta as an Executive Director with effect from 19 March 2009. Mr Nitish Gupta’s annual remuneration
will be disclosed in the Company’s Annual Report 2009 onwards.
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It is not in the best interests of the Company to set out names of its key executives due to the sensitive nature of this information and to prevent solicitation of key
executives by the Company’s competitors.
There were no share options/awards granted during the financial year under share options scheme and share plan.
There were no employees of the Group who are immediate family members of a director or a CEO and whose remuneration exceeds S$150,000 during the financial year
ended 31 December 2008.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Principle 10: Accountability

The Board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the company’s performance, position and prospects.
The Company provides the shareholders with a detailed and balanced explanation and analysis of the Company’s performance, position and prospects on a quarterly
basis. The Board is provided with appropriately detailed management reports on a quarterly basis.

Principle 11: Audit Committee

The Board should establish an Audit Committee with written terms of reference which clearly set out its authority and duties.
The AC comprises Mr Leonard Tay, Mr Yeo Jeu Nam, Mr Oon Thian Seng and Mr Francis Wong. Save for Mr Francis Wong, an executive director of the Company, the other
three members of the AC are independent non-executive directors. Mr Leonard Tay is the Chairman of the AC.
The AC is responsible for:
(a) reviewing the audit plans of the Company’s external auditors;
(b) reviewing the reports of the Company’s external auditors;
(c) reviewing the co-operation given by the Company’s officers to the external auditors;
(d) reviewing the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries before their submission to the Board;
(e) the quarterly, half-yearly and annual announcements as well as the related press releases on the results and financial position of the Company and the Group;
(f) nominating the Company’s external auditors for re-appointment;
(g) approving the Company’s internal audit plans;
(h) reviewing interested person transaction (if any);
(i) reviewing and considering transactions in which there may be potential conflicts of interests between the Group and its interested persons and recommending
whether those who are in a position of conflict should abstain from participating in any discussion or deliberations of the Board or voting on resolutions of the
Board or the shareholders in relation to such transactions;
(j) reviewing and approving procedures to hedge the exposure to foreign currency fluctuations (if any); and
(k) reviewing the findings of internal investigations into matters where there is any suspected fraud or irregularity or failure of internal controls or infringement of any
Singapore law, rule or regulation which has or is likely to have a material impact on the Group’s results of operation and/or financial position.
The AC has the express power to conduct or authorize investigations into any matters within its terms of reference, has full access to and co-operation by Management.
The AC has full discretion to invite any other directors or executive directors to attend its meetings and to ensure that adequate resources are available to enable it to
discharge its function properly. As at the date of this Annual Report, the AC has met with the external and internal auditors once separately without the presence of
Management to review any area of audit concern. Ad-hoc AC meetings may be carried out from time to time, as circumstances require.
The Company has implemented a whistle blowing policy which will provide well-defined and accessible channels in the Group through which employees may raise
concerns about improper conduct within the Group. The AC will review arrangements by which staff of the Company may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible
improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters. The AC’s objectives are to ensure that arrangements are in place for the independent investigation of
such matters and for appropriate follow-up action.
The Company’s external auditors Deloitte & Touche LLP carry out in the course of their statutory audit, a review of the design and implementation of the Company’s
material internal controls to the extent set out in their audit plan. Material non-compliance and internal control weaknesses, noted during their audit, and the external
auditors’ recommendations to address such non-compliance and weaknesses, would be reported to the AC. The Management, with the assistance of the Group Internal
Auditor would then follow up on Deloitte & Touche LLP’s recommendation as part of its role in the review of the Company’s internal control systems.
The Board is satisfied that the Company’s internal controls are adequate.
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During the financial year under review, the AC has reviewed the independence of Deloitte & Touche LLP including the volume of all non-audit services provided to the
Group, and is satisfied that the nature and extent of such services will not prejudice the independence and objectivity of the external auditor. The AC is pleased to
recommend the re-appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP’s as external auditors of the Company at the forthcoming AGM.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND AUDITS
Principle 12: Internal Controls

The Board should ensure that the Management maintains a sound system of internal controls to safeguard the shareholders’ investments and the company’s assets.
The Group’s internal controls and systems are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the financial information
and to safeguard and maintain the accountability of the assets.
The Board believes that, in the absence of any evidence to the contrary, the system of internal control systems maintained by the Group’s Management and that was in
place through the year and up to the date of this report, is adequate to meet the needs of the Group in its current business environment.

Principle 13: Internal Audit

The company should establish an internal audit function that is independent of the activities it audits.
The internal audit function is headed by Mr Lee Kien Boon, as the Internal Auditor. The internal auditor team is expected to meet the standards set by nationally or
internationally recognized professional bodied including the Standards for the professional Practice of Internal Auditing of the Institute of Internal Auditors.
The internal auditors’ primary line of reporting is to the Chairman of the AC. The AC will be reviewing the internal audit plan, the scope and results of internal audit
procedures during the year. The AC will review the internal auditors’ reports and its activities on a quarterly basis. The AC is satisfied that the internal audit is
adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the Group.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
Principle 14: Communication with Shareholders

Companies should engage in regular, effective and fair communication with shareholders.

Principle 15: Greater Shareholder Participation

Companies should encourage greater shareholder participation at AGMs, and allow shareholders the opportunity to communicate their views on various matters
affecting the company.
The Board is mindful of its obligations to provide its shareholders with timely disclosure of material information presented in a fair and objective manner.
The Company does not practice selective disclosure. In line with the continuing obligations of the Company pursuant to the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, the Board’s
policy is that all shareholders would be equally informed of all major developments and/or transaction impacting the Group.
Quarterly results of the Company will be published through the SGXNET, news releases and the Company’s website. All information on the Company’s new initiatives
will be first disseminated via SGXNET followed by a news release, which will also be available on the website. Price sensitive information is first publicly released, either
before the Company meets with any group of investors or analysts or simultaneously with such meetings. Results and annual reports are announced or issued within
the period prescribed by the SGX-ST and are available on the Company’s website.
The AGM of the Company is a principal forum for dialogue and interaction with all shareholders. All shareholders will receive the annual report of the Company and
notice of AGM. At the AGM, shareholders will be given the opportunity to voice their views and to direct questions regarding the Group to the directors. The Chairman of
the AC, NC and RC would be present at the AGMs to answer any question relating to the work of these committees. The external auditors are also present to assist the
directors in addressing any relevant queries from the shareholders.
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Shareholders are given the right to vote on the resolutions at general meetings. Each item of special business included in the notice of the meeting is accompanied,
where appropriate, by an explanation for the proposed resolution. Each distinct issue will be carried in a separate resolution. Proxy form is sent with the notice of
general meeting to all shareholders so that those shareholders who are unable to attend the general meeting in person can appoint a proxy or proxies to attend and vote
on their behalf. The Company’s Articles of Association allow a shareholder of the Company to appoint up to two proxies to attend and vote at all general meetings on
his/her behalf.

INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS
The Company has established procedures to ensure that all transactions with interested persons are reported in a timely manner to the AC and that the transactions are
carried out on an arm’s length basis. There were no material interested person transactions entered into by the Group for the financial year under review.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS
Save for the service agreements entered into between the executive directors and the Company, there was no material contract entered into by the Company and its
subsidiaries involving the interests of any director or controlling shareholders subsisting at the end of the financial year ended 31 December 2008.

DEALINGS IN SECURITIES
The Company has adopted internal regulations with respect to dealings in securities by directors and officers of the Group that are modeled on the best practices on
dealings in securities of the SGX-ST. Directors, Management and officers of the Group who have access to price-sensitive, financial or confidential information are
not permitted to deal in the Company’s shares during the periods commencing two weeks before announcement of the Group’s quarterly results and one month before
the announcement of the Group’s yearly results and ending on the date of announcement of such result, or when they are in possession of unpublished price-sensitive
information on the Group. In addition, the officers of the Company are advised not to deal in the Company’s securities for a short term considerations and are expected
to observe the insider trading laws at all times even when dealing in securities within the permitted trading periods.

RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND PROCESSES
The Company does not have a Risk Management Committee. The senior management assumes the responsibility of the risk management function. The senior
management regularly assesses and reviews the Group’s business and operational environment in order to identify areas of significant business and financial risks,
such as credit risks, foreign exchange risks, liquidity risks and interest rate risks, as well as appropriate measures to control and mitigate these risks.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
The directors present their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the group and balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the
company for the financial year ended December 31, 2008.

1 DIRECTORS
The directors of the company in office at the date of this report are:
Goh Kim Teck, Raymond
Jean Pers
Yeo Chee Neng
Wong Chin Sing, Francis
Nitish Gupta			
Yeo Jeu Nam
Oon Thian Seng
Tay Gim Sin, Leonard

(Appointed on March 19, 2009)

2 ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE BENEFITS BY MEANS OF THE ACQUISITION OF SHARES AND
DEBENTURES
Neither at the end of the financial year nor at any time during the financial year did there subsist any arrangement whose object is to enable the directors of the
company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or debentures in the company or any other body corporate.

3 DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES
The directors of the company holding office at the end of the financial year had no interests in the share capital and debentures of the company and related
corporations as recorded in the register of directors’ shareholdings kept by the company under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act except as follows:
Name of directors and companies
in which interests are held

Shareholdings registered in name of director
At beginning of year
At end of year

Swiber Holdings Limited
(Ordinary shares)
Goh Kim Teck, Raymond
Jean Pers
Yeo Chee Neng
Wong Chin Sing, Francis
Yeo Jeu Nam
Oon Thian Seng
Tay Gim Sin, Leonard

61,666,667
35,000,000
35,000,000
13,333,333
30,000
30,000
30,000

60,000,000
35,200,000
35,000,000
13,333,333
30,000
30,000
30,000

The directors’ interests and deemed interest in the shares of the company at January 21, 2009 were the same as at December 31, 2008.
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4 DIRECTORS’ RECEIPT AND ENTITLEMENT TO CONTRACTUAL BENEFITS
Since the beginning of the financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit which is required to be disclosed under Section 201(8) of
the Singapore Companies Act, by reason of a contract made by the company or a related corporation with the director or with a firm of which he is a member, or
with a company in which he has a substantial financial interest except for salaries, bonuses and other benefits as disclosed in the financial statements. Certain
directors received remuneration from related corporations in their capacity as directors and/or executives of those related corporations.

5 SHARE OPTIONS
(a) Options to take up unissued shares
		

During the financial year, no options to take up unissued shares of the company or any corporation in the group was granted.

(b) Options exercised
		

During the financial year, there were no shares of the company or any corporation in the group issued by virtue of the exercise of an option to take up
unissued shares.

(c) Unissued shares under option
		

At the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the company or any corporation in the group under options.

6 AUDIT COMMITTEE
At the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises of one executive director, three non-executive and independent directors:
Tay Gim Sin, Leonard (Chairman)
Yeo Jeu Nam
Oon Thian Seng
Wong Chin Sing, Francis
The financial statements, accounting policies and system of internal accounting controls are the responsibility of the Board of Directors acting through the Audit
Committee.
The Audit Committee has met six times during the financial year and has reviewed the following, where relevant, with the executive directors and the external and
internal auditors of the company:
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a)

the audit plans and results of the internal auditors’ examination and evaluation of the group’s systems of internal accounting controls;

b)

the group’s financial and operating results and accounting policies;

c)

the financial statements of the company and the consolidated financial statements of the group before their submission to the directors of the company and
external auditors’ report on those financial statements;

d)

the quarterly, half-yearly and annual announcements as well as the related press releases on the results and financial position of the company and the
group;

e)

the co-operation and assistance given by the management to the group’s external auditors; and

f)

the re-appointment of the external auditors of the group.
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6 AUDIT COMMITTEE (cont’d)
The Audit Committee has full access to and has the co-operation of the management and has been given the resources required for it to discharge its function
properly. It also has full discretion to invite any director and executive officer to attend its meetings. The external auditors have unrestricted access to the
Audit Committee.
The Audit Committee has recommended to the directors the nomination of Deloitte & Touche LLP for re-appointment as external auditors of the group at the
forthcoming AGM of the company.

7 AUDITORS
The auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

................................................
Goh Kim Teck, Raymond

................................................
Wong Chin Sing, Francis

March 31, 2009
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF SWIBER HOLDINGS LIMITED

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Swiber Holdings Limited (the “company”) and its subsidiaries (the “group”) which comprise the balance
sheets of the group and of the company as at December 31, 2008, the profit and loss statement, statement of changes in equity and cash flow statement of the group
and the statement of changes in equity of the company for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as set
out on pages 45 to 87.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act,
Cap. 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes: devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls
sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised
and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss accounts and balance sheets and to maintain accountability of assets;
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on
Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on
the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion,
a)

the consolidated financial statements of the group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the company are properly drawn up in accordance
with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and of the
company as at December 31, 2008 and of the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the group and changes in equity of the company for the year ended on
that date; and

b)

the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the company and by those subsidiaries incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors
have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Public Accountants and
Certified Public Accountants
Singapore

Ernest Kan Yaw Kiong
Partner
March 31, 2009
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BALANCE SHEETS
December 31, 2008

		
		

Group
Note

Company

2008

2007

2008

2007

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

Current assets
Cash and bank balances
7
Trade receivables
8
Engineering work-in-progress in excess of progress billings
9
Inventory		
Other receivables
10
Amount due from subsidiaries
11

74,669
61,986
135,171
4,905
59,686
-

97,686
44,930
55,784
224
26,067
-

3,524
1,458
191,265

24,451
815
128,566

			
Non-current assets held for sale
12

336,417
56,354

224,691
10,919

196,247
-

153,832
-

Total current assets		

392,771

235,610

196,247

153,832

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
13
Subsidiaries
14
Associates
15
Joint ventures
16
Other receivables
10
Derivative financial instruments
17
Deferred tax assets
18
Other assets		

282,455
4,181
9,234
16,915
25
31

112,900
3,698
4,448
11,591
1,762
18
13

1,810
131,688
432
-

1,643
33,635
339
1,762
-

Total non-current assets		

312,841

134,430

133,930

37,379

Total assets		

705,612

370,040

330,177

191,211

Current liabilities
Bank loans
19
Bonds
20
Trade payables
21
Other payables
22
Current portion of finance leases
23
Amount due to subsidiaries
11
Income tax payable		

68,507
11,904
92,473
110,479
701
3,041

14,434
43,946
49,221
80
2,049

11,904
574
5,999
39
59,688
-

7,561
39
2
-

Total current liabilities		

287,105

109,730

78,204

7,602

			

ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
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(Cont’d)

December 31, 2008

		
		

Group
Note

Company

2008

2007

2008

2007

			

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

Non-current liabilities
Bank loans
19
Bonds
20
Finance leases
23
Employee benefits liabilities		
Derivative financial instruments
17
Deferred tax liabilities
18

57,700
143,194
2,086
49
4,867
3,540

10,122
71,147
617
67
878

143,194
217
4,867
-

71,147
317
-

Total non-current liabilities		

211,436

82,831

148,278

71,464

Capital, reserves and minority interests
Share capital
24
Treasury shares
25
Hedging reserve
26
Translation reserve		
Retained earnings		

108,205
(2,507)
(4,867)
(251)
105,270

108,205
1,762
452
66,453

108,205
(2,507)
(4,867)
2,864

108,205
1,762
2,178

Equity attributable to equity holders of the company		
Minority interests		

205,850
1,221

176,872
607

103,695
-

112,145
-

Total equity		

207,071

177,479

103,695

112,145

Total liabilities and equity		

705,612

370,040

330,177

191,211

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Year ended December 31, 2008

		
		

Group
2008

2007

Note

US$’000

US$’000

27

428,438

151,177

Cost of sales		

(364,093)

(108,338)

64,345

42,839

21,525
(28,032)
(4,311)
2,839
(11,131)

28,147
(16,638)
(274)
1,673
(3,736)

Profit before tax		

45,235

52,011

Income tax expense

30

(5,747)

(2,305)

Profit for the year

31

39,488

49,706

Equity holders of the company		

38,817

49,669

Minority interests		

671

37

			

39,488

49,706

		
Revenue

Gross profit
Other operating income
28
Administrative expenses		
Other operating expenses		
Share of profit of associates and joint ventures
15, 16
Finance costs
29

Attributable to:

Earnings per share (in US cents):
Basic

32

9.19

12.56

Diluted

32

9.19

12.56

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Year ended December 31, 2008

							 Equity attributable
		
Share
Treasury
Hedging Translation Retained to equity holders Minority
		
capital
shares
reserve
reserve
earnings
of the company
interests
		
US$’000 US$’000
US$’000
US$’000
US$’000
US$’000
US$’000

Total
US$’000

Group
Balance at January 1, 2007

31,634

-

-

49

16,784

48,467

578

49,045

Profit for the year
Exchange differences arising on translation
of foreign operations (1)
Gain on cash flow hedges (1)

-

-

-

-

49,669

49,669

37

49,706

-

-

1,762

403
-

-

403
1,762

(18)
-

385
1,762

Total recognised income and expense for the year

-

-

1,762

403

49,669

51,834

19

51,853

78,569
(1,998)
-

-

-

-

-

78,569
(1,998)
-

10

78,569
(1,998)
10

108,205

-

1,762

452

66,453

176,872

607

177,479

Profit for the year
Exchange differences arising on translation
of foreign operations (1)
Loss on cash flow hedges (1)

-

-

-

-

38,817

38,817

671

39,488

-

-

(6,629)

(703)
-

-

(703)
(6,629)

(105)
-

(808)
(6,629)

Total recognised income and expense for the year
Acquisition of interests in subsidiaries
Repurchase of shares

-

(2,507)

(6,629)
-

(703)
-

38,817
-

31,485
(2,507)

566
48
-

32,051
48
(2,507)

108,205

(2,507)

(4,867)

(251)

105,270

205,850

1,221

207,071

Retained
earnings
US$’000

Total
US$’000

Issue of shares pursuant to Private Placement
Share issue expenses
Acquisition of interests in subsidiaries
Balance at December 31, 2007

Balance at December 31, 2008
		
		
		

Share
capital
US$’000

Treasury
shares
US$’000

Hedging
reserve
US$’000

Company
Balance at January 1, 2007		

31,634

-

-

1,756

33,390

Profit for the year		
Gain on cash flow hedges (1)		

-

-

1,762

422
-

422
1,762

Total recognised income and expense for the year

-

-

1,762

422

2,184

Issue of shares pursuant to Private Placement		
Share issue expenses		

78,569
(1,998)

-

-

-

78,569
(1,998)

Balance at December 31, 2007		

108,205

-

1,762

2,178

112,145

Profit for the year		
Loss on cash flow hedges (1)		

-

-

(6,629)

686
-

686
(6,629)

Total recognised income and expense for the year		

-

-

(6,629)

686

(5,943)

Repurchase of shares		

-

(2,507)

-

-

(2,507)

Balance at December 31, 2008		

108,205

(2,507)

(4,867)

2,864

103,695

(1)

48
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Year ended December 31, 2008

		
		

Group
2008

2007

		
Note
Operating activities
Profit before income tax		
Adjustments for:
Interest income		
Allowance for doubtful debts		
Interest expense		
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment		
Property, plant and equipment written off		
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment		
Gain on disposal of assets held for sale		
Provision for employee benefits		
Negative goodwill		
Share of profit of associate and joint venture		

US$’000

US$’000

45,235

52,011

(832)
4,043
11,131
8,656
10
(3,377)
(12,279)
(18)
(2,839)

(1,549)
55
3,736
2,675
72
(2,381)
(21,686)
27
(2,018)
(1,673)

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital		

49,730

29,269

Trade receivables		
Engineering work-in-progress in excess of progress billings		
Inventory		
Other receivables 		
Other assets		
Trade payables		
Other payables		

(21,099)
(79,387)
(4,681)
(38,943)
(18)
48,527
61,258

(21,382)
(47,915)
164
(33,843)
2
23,684
37,664

Cash generated (used in) from operations		

15,387

(12,357)

Income taxes paid		
Interest expense paid		

(2,099)
(13,167)

(742)
(3,736)

Net cash from (used in) operating activities		

121

(16,835)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

(Cont’d)

Year ended December 31, 2008

		
		

Group
2008

2007

US$’000

US$’000

Investing activities
Interest income received		
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment		
Proceeds on disposal of assets held for sale		
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (Note A)		
Additions to non-current assets held for sale		
Minority interest contribution for share capital of subsidiary		
Investment in subsidiary		
Investment in associate		
Investment in a joint venture		

832
19,475
34,706
(224,223)
(33,112)
48
(156)
(2,274)

1,549
24,350
99,050
(92,051)
(84,719)
(5,206)
(1,818)

Net cash used in investing activities		

(204,704)

(58,845)

Financing activities
Repayment of bank loans		
Pledged deposits		
Proceeds on issue of bonds		
Proceeds on issue of shares		
Purchase of treasury shares		
Share issue expenses		
Repayment of obligations under finance leases		
Redemption of bonds		
New bank loans raised		

(133,426)
8,472
92,282
(2,507)
(721)
(8,331)
235,077

(19,533)
(13,008)
71,147
78,569
(1,998)
(15)
33,304

Net cash from financing activities		

190,846

148,466

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents		
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year		
Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash held in foreign currencies		

(13,737)
82,632
(808)

72,786
9,443
403

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

68,087

82,632

		

Note

7

Notes to the cash flow statement
A. During the financial year, the group acquired property, plant and equipment with an aggregate cost of US$229,070,000 (2007 : US$92,288,000) of which
US$2,811,000 (2007 : US$237,000) were acquired under finance lease arrangements. Cash payments of US$226,259,000 (2007 : US$92,051,000) were made to
purchase property, plant and equipment, inclusive of capitalised borrowing cost.

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2008

1 GENERAL
The company (Registration No. 200414721N) is incorporated in Singapore with its principal place of business and registered office at 12 International Business
Park, #04-01 Cyber Hub @ IBP, Singapore 609920. The company is listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited. The financial statements are
expressed in United States dollars, which is the company’s functional currency and presentation currency of the group.
The principal activity of the company is that of investment holding and provision of corporate services.
The principal activities of the subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are disclosed in Notes 14, 15 and 16 respectively.
The consolidated financial statements of the group and balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the company for the year ended December 31, 2008
were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on March 31, 2009.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF ACCOUNTING - The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention, except as disclosed in the accounting
policies below, and are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”).
ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS - In the current financial year, the group has adopted all the new and revised FRSs and Interpretations of FRS
(“INT FRS”) that are relevant to its operations and effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2008. The adoption of these new/revised FRSs
and INT FRSs does not result in changes to the group’s and company’s accounting policies and has no material effect on the amounts reported for the current or
prior years.
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following FRSs, INT FRSs and amendments to FRS that are relevant to the group and the company
were issued but not effective:
FRS 1
FRS 108

-

Presentation of Financial Statements (Revised)
Operating Segments

Consequential amendments were also made to various standards as a result of these new/revised standards.
The management anticipates that the adoption of the above FRSs and INT FRSs in future periods will have no material impact on the financial statements of the
company and the group in the period of their initial adoption except for the following:
FRS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements (Revised)
FRS 1 (Revised) will be effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009, and will change the basis for presentation and structure of the financial
statements. It does not change the recognition, measurement or disclosure of specific transactions and other events required by other FRSs.
FRS 108 – Operating Segments
FRS 108 will be effective for annual financial statements beginning on or after January 1, 2009 and supersedes FRS 14 – Segment Reporting. FRS 108 requires
operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision
maker in order to allocate resources to the segment and to assess its performance. In contrast, FRS 14 requires an entity to identify two sets of segments
(business and geographical), using a risks and rewards approach, with the entity’s ‘system of internal financial reporting to key management personnel’ serving
only as the starting point for the identification of such segments. As a result, following the adoption of FRS 108, the identification of the Group’s reportable
segments may change.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION - The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the company and entities controlled by the company
(its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from
its activities.
The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated profit and loss statement from the effective date of acquisition
or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with those used by other members of
the group.
All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.
Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the group’s equity therein. Minority interests consist of the
amount of those interests at the date of the original business combination (see below) and the minority’s share of changes in equity since the date of the
combination. Losses applicable to the minority in excess of the minority’s interest in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the interests of the group except
to the extent that the minority has a binding obligation and is able to make an additional investment to cover its share of those losses.
In the company’s financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment in net recoverable value that has been recognised in
the profit and loss statement.
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS - Except for those companies under restructuring in prior years accounted for in accordance with the principles of merger accounting,
the acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date
of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the group in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs
directly attributable to the business combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition
under FRS 103 - Business Combinations are recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date, except for non-current assets (or disposal groups) that are
classified as held for sale in accordance with FRS 105 - Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations, which are recognised and measured at fair
value less costs to sell.
Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business combination over the group’s
interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised. If, after reassessment, the group’s interest in the net fair
value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the business combination, the excess is recognised immediately
in the consolidated profit and loss statement.
The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is initially measured at the minority’s proportion of the net fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities recognised.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the group’s balance sheet when the group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.
Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument and of allocating interest income or expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments through the expected life of the financial
instrument, or where appropriate, a shorter period. Income and expense is recognised on an effective interest rate basis for debt instruments.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are classified as “loans and receivables”. Trade and
other receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less impairment. Interest is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate method, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial.
Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at each balance sheet date. Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that,
as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been
impacted. The amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted
at the original effective interest rate.
The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of trade receivables where
the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance
account are recognised in profit or loss.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent the carrying amount of the investment at the date
the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.
Derecognition of financial assets
The group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the group continues to recognise the financial
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash placed with banks, cash on hand, time deposits and pledged cash placed with banks that are readily convertible to a
known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.
Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the group are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.
Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method, with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis, if the effect is material.
Interest-bearing bank loans are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. Any
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the settlement or redemption of borrowings is recognised over the term of the borrowings in
accordance with the group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs (see below).
Derecognition of financial liabilities
The group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.
Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
The group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange rate risk, including foreign
exchange forward contracts and interest rate swaps. Further details of derivative financial instruments are disclosed in Note 17 to the financial statements.
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at each
balance sheet date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging
instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship. The group designates certain derivatives
as either hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or firm commitments (fair value hedges), hedges of highly probable forecast transactions or
hedges of foreign currency risk of firm commitments (cash flow hedges), or hedges of net investments in foreign operations.
A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument is more than 12 months and it is not
expected to be realised or settled within 12 months. Other derivatives are presented as current assets or current liabilities.
Hedge accounting
The group designates certain hedging instruments, which include derivatives in respect of foreign currency risk as cash flow hedges. Hedges of foreign exchange
risk on firm commitments are accounted for as cash flow hedges.
At the inception of the hedge relationship the entity documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and hedged item, along with its risk management
objectives and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the group documents
whether the hedging instrument that is used in a hedging relationship is highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged item.
Note 17 contains details of the fair values of the derivative instruments used for hedging purposes. Movements in the hedging reserve in equity are also detailed in
the statement of changes in equity.
Cash flow hedge
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualified as cash flow hedges are deferred in equity. The gain or loss
relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss as part of other gains and losses.
Amounts deferred in equity are recycled in profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item is recognised in profit or loss. However, when the forecast
transaction that is hedged results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are
transferred from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost of the asset or liability.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
Hedge accounting is discontinued when the group revokes the hedging relationship, the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or
no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Any cumulative gain or loss deferred in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast
transaction is ultimately recognised in profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was deferred in
equity is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
ENGINEERING AND SHIPBUILDING CONTRACTS - Where the outcome of an engineering and shipbuilding contract can be estimated reliably, revenue and costs are
recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the balance sheet date, as measured by the proportion that contract costs incurred
for work performed to date bear to the estimated total contract costs, except where this would not be representative of the stage of completion. Variations in
contract work, claims and incentive payments are included to the extent that they have been agreed with the customer.
Where the outcome of an engineering and shipbuilding contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the extent of contract costs
incurred that it is probable will be recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred.
When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.
LEASES - Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.
The group as lessee
Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the group at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the
minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation. Lease payments are apportioned
between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance
charges are charged directly to profit or loss. Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease unless another systematic basis is
more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are
recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is
recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which
economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
SALE AND LEASEBACK - If a sale and leaseback transaction results in a finance lease, any excess of sales proceeds over the carrying amount is immediately
recognised as income.
If a sale and leaseback transaction results in an operating lease, and it is clear that the transaction is established at fair value, any profit or loss is recognised
immediately. If the sale price is below fair value, any profit or loss is recognised immediately except that, if the loss is compensated for by future lease payments
at below market price, it is deferred and amortised in proportion to the lease payments over the period for which the asset is expected to be used. If the sale price
is above fair value, the excess over fair value is deferred and amortised over the period for which the asset is expected to be used.
For operating leases, if the fair value at the time of a sale and leaseback transaction is less than the carrying amount of the asset, a loss equal to the amount of
the difference between the carrying amount and fair value is recognised immediately.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE - Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset (or disposal group) is available for
immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale
within one year from the date of classification.
Non-current assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of the assets’ previous carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.
INVENTORIES - Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials and, where applicable, direct labour costs
and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted average
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and
distribution.
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost, other than construction-in-progress, over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method, on the
following bases:
Leasehold property
Vessels
Transportation equipment
Furniture and office equipment
Motor vehicles
Drydocking expenditure
Cranes and machineries

-

Over the term of the lease which is 99 years
15 to 20 years
3 to 8 years
3 to 5 years
10 years
21/2 years
20 years

The estimated useful lives, residual value and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.
Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets or, if there is no certainty that the lessee will
obtain ownership by the end of the lease term, the asset shall be fully depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and its useful life.
The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amounts of the asset and is recognised in the profit and loss statement.
IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE ASSETS - At each balance sheet date, the group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cashgenerating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in the profit and loss statement.
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Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in the profit and loss statement.
ASSOCIATES - An associate is an entity over which the group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.
The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial statements using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity
method, investments in associates are carried in the balance sheet at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the group’s share of the net assets of the
associate, less any impairment in the value of individual investments. Losses of an associate in excess of the group’s interest in that associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the group’s net investment in the associate) are not recognised, unless the group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the associate
recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill. The goodwill is included within the carrying amount of the investment and is assessed for
impairment as part of the investment. Any excess of the group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the
cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in the profit and loss statement.
INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES - A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the group and other party undertake an economic activity that is subject
to joint control, that is when the strategic financial and operating policy decisions relating to the activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control.
The results and assets and liabilities of the joint venture are incorporated in these financial statements using the equity method of accounting (as described
above).
PROVISIONS - Provisions are recognised when the group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the group
will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the balance sheet date, taking into
account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if
it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
Onerous contracts
Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised and measured as a provision. An onerous contract is considered to exist where the group has a
contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under it.
REVENUE RECOGNITION - Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.
Charter hire income
Charter hire income from vessels, derived from the offshore marine support business, is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the charter
agreement.

Swiber Annual Report 2008

57

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2008

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)
Rendering of service
Engineering, shipbuilding and repair work income from short-term contracts is recognised when service is rendered.
Revenue from engineering and shipbuilding long-term contracts are recognised in accordance with the group’s accounting policy on engineering and shipbuilding
contracts (see above).
Interest income
Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable.
Dividend income
Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established.
BORROWING COSTS - Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.
All other borrowing costs are recognised in the profit and loss statement in the period in which they are incurred.
RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS - Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an expense as they fall due. Payments made to statemanaged retirement benefit schemes, such as the Singapore Central Provident Fund, are dealt with as payments to defined contribution plans where the group’s
obligations under the plans are equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan.
EMPLOYEE LEAVE ENTITLEMENT - Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.
INCOME TAX - Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the profit and loss statement because it excludes
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are not taxable or tax deductible. The group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted in countries where the company and its subsidiaries
operate by the balance sheet date.
Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used
in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associated company, and interests in joint
ventures, except where the group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset realised based on the tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax is charged or credited to profit or loss, except when it relates to
items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in the profit and loss statement.
FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATION - The individual financial statements of each group entity are measured and presented in the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency). The consolidated financial statements of the group and the balance sheet
of the company are presented in United States dollars, which is the functional currency of the company and presentation currency for the consolidated financial
statements.
In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency are recorded at the rates of
exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction. At each balance sheet date, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary items are included in profit or loss for the period. Exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in equity. For such non-monetary items, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is also recognised directly in equity.
For the purpose of presenting financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the group’s foreign operations (including comparatives) are expressed in United
States dollars using exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and expense items (including comparatives) are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuated significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are classified as equity and transferred to the translation reserve. Such translation differences are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which the foreign operation is disposed of.
On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities (including monetary items that, in substance, form
part of the net investment in foreign entities), and of borrowings and other currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to the
foreign currency translation reserve.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at
the closing rate.

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies
In the process of applying the entity’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, the management is of the opinion that the critical judgements involved
that will have significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements are as follows:
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3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (cont’d)
Sale and leaseback transactions
During the year, the group has entered in to a number of sale and leaseback transactions in relation to its vessels. Based on the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, management believes that the subsequent lease agreements result in operating leases, rather than finance leases.
Management was further required to assess the fair value of the vessels at the point of the sale and leaseback transactions in order to determine whether the
transactions were contracted at above or below fair value. Management has obtained expert third party valuation reports for each of the vessel transactions,
which it believes are reliable for determining the fair values at the point of disposal and has accounted for those transactions in accordance with the policy for
sale and leaseback transactions included in Note 2.
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below:
Recoverability of receivables
Management considered the recoverability of its trade and other receivables and engineering work-in-progress in excess of progress billings of the group with
carrying amount of US$61,986,000 (2007 : US$44,930,000), US$76,601,000 (2007 : US$37,658,000) and US$135,171,000 (2007 : US$55,784,000) respectively
and are confident that the carrying amount of the trade and other receivables will be recovered and adjustment will be made in the periods when there is objective
evidence of impairment resulting from future loss events.
Impairment of investment in associate and joint venture
Determining whether the investments in associate and joint venture amounting to US$4,181,000 (2007 : US$3,698,000) and US$9,234,000
(2007 : US$4,448,000) respectively are impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the investments. The value in use calculation requires the company
to estimate the future cash flows expected from the cash-generating units and an appropriate discount rate in order to calculate the present value of the future
cash flows. Management has evaluated the recoverability of the investments based on such estimates and is confident that no allowance for impairment
is necessary.
Amounts due from engineering and shipbuilding contracts and revenue recognition
As discussed in Note 2, revenue and costs are recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity, as measured by the proportion that
contract costs incurred for work performed to date bear to the estimated total contract costs. The costs of uncompleted contracts are computed based on the
estimates of total contract costs for the respective contracts.
Management has performed the cost studies, taking into account the costs to date and costs to complete on each contract. Management has also reviewed the
status of such contracts and is satisfied that the cost estimates to complete, the total contract costs and the profitability are realistic.
Based on the above studies, management is of the opinion that revenue and related costs, and amounts due from engineering and shipbuilding contracts are
reasonable.
Impairment of asset under construction in progress
Determining whether the asset under construction in progress amounting to US$130,940,000 (2007 : US$58,231,000) is impaired requires an estimation of the
value in use of the asset. The value in use calculation requires the company to estimate the future cash flows expected from the cash-generating units and an
appropriate discount rate in order to calculate the present value of the future cash flows. Management has evaluated the recoverability of the asset based on such
estimates and is confident that no allowance for impairment is necessary.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT
(a) Categories of financial instruments
		

The financial instruments as at the balance sheet date are as follows:

		
		

2008

Group
2007

2008

2007

		

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

328,569

1,762
229,699

195,714

1,762
153,832

4,867
456,863

168,551

4,867
216,618

71,876

		

Financial assets

		
		

Derivative instruments in designated hedge accounting relationships
Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents)

		

Financial liabilities

		
		

Derivative instruments in designated hedge accounting relationships
Amortised cost

Company

(b) Financial risk management policies and objectives
		

The group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, such as market risk (including foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk), credit risk, liquidity
risk, cash flow interest rate risk, and fair value risk.

		

The group uses a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and foreign currency risk, including cross currency and
interest rate swaps to mitigate the risk of rising interest rates.

		

The group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

		

The global financial and capital markets have experienced severe credit crunch and volatility resulting in changes of the group’s exposure to these financial
risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis indicated below.

		

Foreign exchange risk management

		

The group transacts business in various foreign currencies, including the Singapore Dollar, Malaysian Ringgit, Euro and Brunei Dollar and therefore is exposed
to foreign exchange risk.

		

The group has foreign subsidiaries whose net assets are exposed to currency translation risk. Management does not regard its currency translation exposure
to be significant.

		

At the reporting date, the carrying amounts of monetary assets and monetary liabilities denominated in currencies other than the respective group entities’
functional currencies are as follows:

		
		
		

Group
Liabilities
2008
2007

Company
Assets
2008

2007

Liabilities
2008
2007

2008

Assets
2007

		

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

United States dollars
		Singapore dollars
		Brunei dollars
		Malaysian ringgits
		Euros

120,278
20,265
3,898
1,965
2,092

2,696
16,744
1,716
647
2,538

47,694
13,946
2,265
2
168

39,877
6,491
568
-

884
-

909
-

1,536
-

1,767
-
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (cont’d)
(b) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)
		

The company has a number of investments in Singapore and foreign subsidiaries, whose net assets are exposed to currency translation risk. The group does
not currently designate its foreign currency denominated debt as a hedging instrument for the purpose of hedging the translation of its foreign operations.

		

Further details on the forward exchange derivative hedging instruments are found in Note 17 to the financial statements.
Foreign currency sensitivity

		

The following table details the sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the relevant foreign currencies against the functional currency of each group
entity. 10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary
items and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes external loans where they
gave rise to an impact on the group’s profit or loss.

		

If the relevant foreign currency weakens by 10% against the functional currency of each group entity, profit or loss will increase (decrease) by:

		
		

United States dollar impact
2008
2007

		
Group
		
Profit or loss
		

Singapore dollar impact
2008
2007

Malaysian ringgit impact
2008
2007

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

7,258

(3,718)

632

552

196

(1,544)

If the relevant foreign currency strengthens by 10% against the functional currency of each group entity, profit or loss will increase (decrease) by:

		
		

United States dollar impact
2008
2007

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

(632)

(552)

(196)

Group
Profit or loss

		

This is mainly attributable to the group’s exposure to outstanding cash and bank balances, receivables and payables balances at year end.

		

The company is not exposed to significant foreign currency sensitivities as the majority of its transactions are denominated in its functional currency.

		

Interest rate risk management

		

The group has exposure to interest rate risk through the impact of floating interest rate on cash equivalents and borrowings. The group entered into swap
arrangements to manage the interest rate exposure (Note 17). The group obtained financing through bank loans and the details of the group’s interest rate
exposure is disclosed in Note 19.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (cont’d)
(b) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)
Interest rate sensitivity
		

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for both derivatives and non-derivative instruments at the
balance sheet date and the stipulated change taking place at the beginning of the financial year and held constant throughout the reporting period in the
case of instruments that have floating rates. A 50 basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the possible change in interest rates.

		

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher or lower and all other variables were held constant, the group’s profit for the year ended December 31, 2008
would decrease/increase by US$660,000 (2007 : decrease/increase by US$37,000). This is mainly attributable to the group’s exposure to interest rates on
its variable rate borrowings.

		

The group’s sensitivity to interest rates has increased during the current period mainly due to the increase in variable rate debt instruments, which has been
partially mitigated by the interest rate swaps (Note 17).

		

The company’s profit and loss and equity are not affected by changes in interest rates as it does not hold any bank borrowings other than the bonds, which
have been swapped for a fixed interest rate (Note 17).

		

Credit risk management

		

The group’s principal financial assets are bank balances and cash, trade and other receivables and engineering work-in-progress in excess of progress
billings.

		

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

		

The group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade and other receivables and engineering work-in-progress in excess of progress billings. The
amounts presented in the balance sheet are net of allowances for doubtful receivables. An allowance for impairment is made where there is an identified
loss event which, based on previous experience, is evidence of a reduction in the recoverability of the cash flows.

		

The group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a large number of counterparties and customers, except as disclosed in
Notes 8 and 10.

		

Liquidity risk management

		

The group maintains sufficient cash and cash equivalents, and internally generated cash flows to finance their activities. The group minimises liquidity risk
by keeping committed credit lines available. Undrawn facilities are disclosed in Note 19 and commitments for the purchase of property, plant and equipment
are disclosed in Note 33.

		

Non-derivative financial liabilities

		

The following tables detail the remaining contractual maturity for non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the group and company can be required to pay. The table includes both
interest and principal cash flows. The adjustment column represents the possible future cash flows attributable to the instrument included in the maturity
analysis which is not included in the carrying amount of the financial liability on the balance sheet.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (cont’d)
(b) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)
			
		
		
		
		
		

Group

		

2008

		
		
		
		

Non-interest bearing
Finance lease liability (fixed rate)
Variable interest rate instruments
Fixed interest rate instruments

Weighted
average
effective
interest rate

On
demand
or within
1 year

Within
2 to
5 years

After
5 years

Adjustment

Total

%

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

4.0
4.1
5.9

172,771
765
69,030
11,689

2,314
49,392
160,756

150
7,150
276

(441)
(16,989)

172,771
2,788
125,572
155,732

254,255

212,462

7,576

(17,430)

456,863

72,151
102
17,162
2,942

407
49,156
41,110

383
492

(195)
(8,157)
(7,002)

72,151
697
58,161
37,542

92,357

90,673

875

(15,354)

168,551

61,264
53
867
11,239

211
159,670

79
-

(87)
(16,678)

61,264
256
867
154,231

73,423

159,881

79

(16,765)

216,618

373
53
2,408
2,430

211
39,430
39,796

218
-

(126)
(6,429)
(6,488)

373
356
35,409
35,738

5,264

79,437

218

(13,043)

71,876

				
		
		
		
		
		

2007
Non-interest bearing
Finance lease liability (fixed rate)
Variable interest rate instruments
Fixed interest rate instruments

6.5
6.9
6.7

				
		

Company

		

2008

		
		
		
		

Non-interest bearing
Finance lease liability (fixed rate)
Variable interest rate instruments
Fixed interest rate instruments

3.5
3.2
5.9

				
		

2007

		
		
		
		

Non-interest bearing
Finance lease liability (fixed rate)
Variable interest rate instruments
Fixed interest rate instruments

6.5
6.8
6.8

				
		

Non-derivative financial assets

		

The following table details the expected maturity for non-derivative financial assets. The tables below have been drawn up based on the undiscounted
contractual maturities of the financial assets including interest that will be earned on those assets except where the group and the company anticipates that
the cash flow will occur in a different period. The adjustment column represents the possible future cash flows attributable to the instrument included in the
maturity analysis which are not included in the carrying amount of the financial asset on the balance sheet.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (cont’d)
(b) Financial risk management policies and objectives (cont’d)
			
		
		
		
		
		

Group

		
		
		

2008
Non-interest bearing
Fixed interest rate instruments

Weighted
average
effective
interest rate

On
demand
or within
1 year

Within
2 to
5 years

After
5 years

Adjustment

Total

%

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

311,316
8,403

-

11,328

(2,478)

311,316
17,253

319,719

-

11,328

(2,478)

328,569

183,718
37,558

1,239

10,089

(2,905)

183,718
45,981

221,276

1,239

10,089

(2,905)

229,699

-

195,714

-

-

-

195,714

3.8

131,755
22,147

-

-

(70)

131,755
22,077

153,902

-

-

(70)

153,832

3.7

				
		

2007

		
		

Non-interest bearing
Fixed interest rate instruments

3.7

				
		

Company

		

2008

		

Non-interest bearing

		

2007

		
		

Non-interest bearing
Fixed interest rate instruments

				
		
		

Derivative financial instruments

		

The group’s derivative financial instruments comprise of cross currency interest rate swaps, which are payable from 2009 to 2011 (Note 17).

		

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

		

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, engineering work-in-progress in excess of progress billings and payables,
provision and other liabilities approximate their respective fair values due to the relatively short-term maturity of these financial instruments. The fair values
of the other classes of financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in the respective notes to the financial statements.

		

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:

		

•

the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded on active liquid markets are determined with
reference to quoted market prices; and

		

•

the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities (excluding derivative instruments) are determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis; and

		

•

the fair value of derivative instruments are calculated using quoted prices. Where such prices are not available, discounted cash flow analysis is used,
based on the applicable yield curve of the duration of the instruments for non-optional derivatives, and option pricing models for optional derivatives.

		

The management considers that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the financial statements
approximate their fair values.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (cont’d)
(c) Capital risk management policies and objectives
		

The group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the group will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to stakeholders
through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

		

To achieve its capital risk management’s objectives, the group may issue new shares, obtain new borrowings or enter into sale and leaseback transactions for
its vessels to reduce borrowings.

		

During the year, the group has increased its borrowings via further utilisation of its Multicurrency Medium Term Notes program and therefore the group’s
debt-to-equity ratio has increased accordingly.

5 RELATED COMPANY TRANSACTIONS
Some of the company’s transactions and arrangements are between members of the group and the effect of these on the basis determined between the parties is
reflected in these financial statements. The intercompany balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand unless otherwise stated.
Transactions between the company and its subsidiaries, which are related companies of the company, have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed
in this note.

6 OTHER RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Related parties are entities with common direct or indirect shareholders and/or directors. Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to
control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions.
Some of the company’s transactions and arrangements are with related parties and the effect of these on the basis determined between the parties is reflected in
these financial statements. The balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand unless otherwise stated.
During the year, the group entered into the following transactions with related parties:
				 Revenue 			 Purchases				 License fee
			
2008		
2007		
2008		
2007		
2008		
2007
		
US$’000
US$’000
US$’000
US$’000
US$’000
US$’000
Associates
13,750
1,111
2,694
Joint ventures
225
105
2,525
Minority shareholder
2,300
Compensation of directors and key management personnel
The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year was as follows:
		
		
		

2008
US$’000

Short-term benefits
Post-employment benefits
		

Group

3,855
20

7,364
24

3,875

7,388

The remuneration of directors and key management is determined by the remuneration committee having regard to the performance of individuals and
market trends.
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7 CASH AND BANK BALANCES
		
		

2008

Group
2007

2008

Company
2007

		

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

Cash at bank
Fixed deposits
Cash on hand

66,216
1,821
50

60,530
22,077
25

3,523
1

2,373
22,077
1

Cash and cash equivalents
Pledged cash placed with banks

68,087
6,582

82,632
15,054

3,524
-

24,451
-

Cash and bank balances

74,669

97,686

3,524

24,451

Cash and bank balances comprise cash held by the group and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. The carrying amounts of
these assets approximate their fair values.
Fixed deposits bear interest at an average rate of 3.8% (2007 : 3.8%) per annum and for a tenure of approximately 15 days (2007 : 30 days). Cash amounting to
US$6,582,000 (2007 : US$15,054,000) is pledged by the group as collateral for bankers’ guarantee.

8 TRADE RECEIVABLES
		
		

2008

2007

		

US$’000

US$’000

65,884
(4,249)

44,841
(206)

		
Related party (Note 6)

61,635
351

44,635
295

		

61,986

44,930

Trade receivables
Allowance for doubtful trade receivable

Group

An allowance has been made for estimated irrecoverable amounts from third parties of US$4,249,000 (2007: US$206,000). This allowance has been determined
by reference to past default experience.
The average credit period on trade receivables is 30 days (2007 : 30 days). No interest is charged on trade receivables for the first 30 days from the date of the
invoice. Thereafter, interest is charged at 1% (2007 : 1%) per month on the outstanding balance.
Included in the group’s trade receivable balance are debtors with a carrying amount of US$31.6 million (2007 : US$17.4 million) which are past due at
the reporting date for which the group has not provided as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered
recoverable. The group does not hold any collateral over these balances. The average age of these receivables is 229 days (2007 : 150 days).
In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable the group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade receivable from the date credit was
initially granted up to the reporting date. The concentration of credit risk is limited due to the customer base being large and unrelated, except for one debtor
which accounts for 14% (2007 : 35%) of trade receivables. Management believes that there is no further credit provision required in excess of the allowance for
doubtful debts.
The group’s trade receivables due from related parties are interest-free and repayable on demand and the average age of these receivables is less than
30 days. The company has not made any provision as management is of the view that these receivables are recoverable.
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8 TRADE RECEIVABLES (cont’d)
Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts
		
		

2008

Group
2007

		

US$’000

US$’000

As at beginning of the year
Charge for the year (Note 31)
Translation difference

206
4,043
-

107
55
44

As at end of the year

4,249

206

9 ENGINEERING WORK-IN-PROGRESS IN EXCESS OF PROGRESS BILLINGS
		
		

Group

		
Contract costs incurred plus recognised profits (less recognised losses to date)
Less: Progress billings
		

2008

2007

US$’000
357,714
(222,543)

US$’000
117,096
(61,312)

135,171

55,784

10 OTHER RECEIVABLES
		
		

2008

Group
2007

2008

2007

		

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

21,501
54,331
769

9,441
27,526
691

883
1,007
-

1,052
102
-

76,601
(16,915)

37,658
(11,591)

1,890
(432)

1,154
(339)

59,686

26,067

1,458

815

Deposits and prepayments
Other receivable from outside parties
Related parties (Note 6)
			
Less: Non-current portion
			

Company

In prior year, other receivable from outside parties includes US$14,093,000 of amounts due from disposal of assets held for sale.
Non-current portion of the group’s other receivables includes an amount due from outside parties of US$8,850,000 (2007 : US$8,850,000) which bears fixed
interest rate at 3.5% (2007 : 3.5%) per annum and will be repayable within eight to ten years.
In determining the recoverability of other receivables, the group considers any change in the credit quality of the other receivable from the date credit was initially
granted up to the reporting date. The majority of credit risk for other receivables relates to a few customers. Management has assessed the credit worthiness of
those customers and accordingly, they believe that there is no provision required for doubtful debts.

11 AMOUNT DUE FROM (TO) SUBSIDIARIES
The amount due from and to subsidiaries represents advances made to subsidiaries and expenses paid on behalf by subsidiaries. The amounts are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.
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12 NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
During 2008 and 2007, the management resolved to dispose certain vessels under construction which were initially planned for its offshore marine support
operations. These assets attributable to the offshore marine support operations are still under construction respectively as at December 31, 2008 and 2007 and
the group has entered into sale and purchase agreements to dispose of the assets within twelve months and therefore have been classified as a disposal asset
held for sale and are presented separately in the balance sheet.
The proceeds of disposal are expected to exceed the net carrying amount of the relevant assets and, accordingly, no impairment loss has been recognised on the
classification of these assets as held for sale. The non-current assets held for sale is disclosed in the segmental information under segment assets in offshore
marine support (Note 36).

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
									
		
Construction-			
Cranes and Leasehold Transportation Motor
		
in-progress Vessels Drydocking machineries property
equipment vehicles
		
Group

US$’000

US$’000

19,012
48,896
(9,677)

18,520
27,387
836
11
(22,215)
9,677

At December 31, 2007
Additions
Disposals
Written off
Transfer
Reclassified as held for sale
Exchange differences

58,231
115,360
(7,901)
(34,750)
-

At December 31, 2008

US$’000

US$’000

Total

US$’000

US$’000

137
944
-

7,499
845
(140)
-

89
5,065
(65)
-

133
1
(4)
-

542
855
(195)
-

1,796
6,617
(8)
(9)
(175)
-

40,140
92,288
6,746
(1)
(22,419)
(380)
-

34,216
98,681
(7,778)
94

1,081
761
-

8,204
54
(4)
(33)
(153)

5,089
2,049
(250)

130
19
(20)

1,202
392
(158)
(2)

8,221
11,754
(741)
(186)
(45)

116,374
229,070
(16,582)
(219)
(34,750)
(376)

130,940

125,213

1,842

8,068

6,888

129

1,434

19,003

293,517

Accumulated depreciation:
At January 1, 2007
Depreciation
Disposal
Written off
Exchange differences

-

1,160
806
(304)
(5)

4
118
-

252
(136)
-

339
(64)
6

68
14
(2)

28
434
(146)
-

298
712
(108)
-

1,558
2,675
(450)
(308)
(1)

At December 31, 2007
Depreciation
Disposal
Written off
Exchange differences

-

1,657
4,238
(219)
(65)

122
403
-

116
199
(3)
(33)
(139)

281
316
(154)

80
16
(14)

316
132
(123)
(2)

902
3,352
(139)
(176)
(1)

3,474
8,656
(484)
(209)
(375)

At December 31, 2008

-

5,611

525

140

443

82

323

3,938

11,062

Carrying amount:
At December 31, 2008

130,940

119,602

1,317

7,928

6,445

47

1,111

15,065

282,455

At December 31, 2007

58,231

32,559

959

8,088

4,808

50

886

7,319

112,900

Cost:
At January 1, 2007
Additions
Acquired on acquisition of a subsidiary
Exchange differences
Disposals
Written off
Transfer

US$’000

Furniture
and office
equipment

US$’000 US$’000
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13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
			
		
Motor
		
vehicles

Furniture
and office
equipment

Total

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

428
-

1
1,394

429
1,394

At December 31, 2007
Additions
Disposals

428
-

1,395
1,039
(344)

1,823
1,039
(344)

At December 31, 2008

428

2,090

2,518

Accumulated depreciation:
At January 1, 2007
Depreciation

27
43

110

27
153

At December 31, 2007
Depreciation
Disposals

70
43
-

110
487
(2)

180
530
(2)

At December 31, 2008

113

595

708

Carrying amount:
At December 31, 2008

315

1,495

1,810

At December 31, 2007

358

1,285

1,643

		
Company
Cost:
At January 1, 2007
Additions

The carrying amount of the group’s and company’s property, plant and equipment includes an amount of US$3,516,000 (2007 : US$735,000) and US$316,000
(2007 : US$358,000) respectively in respect of assets held under finance leases (Note 23).
The group has pledged certain vessels, furniture and office equipment having a carrying amount of approximately US$143,548,000 (2007 : US$25,336,000) to
secure banking bank loans granted to the group.
The group’s property, plant and equipment includes capitalised borrowing costs of US$2,036,000 (2007 : $110,000).

14 SUBSIDIARIES
		
		

2008

Company
2007

		

US$’000

US$’000

131,688

33,635

Unquoted equity shares, at cost
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14 SUBSIDIARIES (cont’d)
Details of the company’s subsidiaries at the year end are as follows:
			
		
Country of
		
incorporation
Name of subsidiary
and operation
		
		

Proportion of
ownership interest
and voting
power held
2008
2007
%
%

Principal activity

Swiber Offshore Construction Pte Ltd (1)

Singapore

100

100

Offshore marine engineering

Swiber Engineering Ltd (2)

Malaysia

100

100

Offshore marine engineering and vessel chartering

PT Swiber Berjaya (3)

Indonesia

80

80

Vessel owning and chartering

Swiber Marine (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd (2)

Malaysia

100

100

Vessel chartering

Swiber Offshore Marine Pte Ltd (1)

Singapore

100

100

Vessel owning and chartering

Kreuz International Pte Ltd (1)

Singapore

100

100

Investment holding and provision of corporate service

PT Swiber Offshore (3)

Indonesia

99.5

99.5

Offshore marine engineering

Swiber Offshore (India) Pvt Ltd (5)

India

100

100

Operator and charterer of vessels

Equatorial Drilling International Pte Ltd (1)(6)

Singapore

90

-

Investment holding

Swiber Offshore Sdn Bhd (4)(6)

Brunei

100

-

Offshore marine engineering and vessel chartering

Swiber Rahaman Sdn Bhd (4)(6)

Brunei

51

-

Offshore marine engineering and vessel chartering

Singapore

100

100

Vessel chartering

Held by Swiber Offshore Marine Pte Ltd           
Swiber Marine Pte Ltd (1)
Swiber Maritime Limited (5)
		
Held by Kreuz International Pte Ltd

Republic of
100
100
Seychelles			

Holding the Seychelles-flagged
vessel on trust for Swiber Offshore Marine Pte Ltd

Kreuz Shipbuilding & Engineering Pte Ltd (1)

Singapore

100

100

Building of ships, tankers and other ocean-going vessels

Kreuz Engineering Limited (2)

Malaysia

100

100

Offshore marine engineering and vessel chartering

Kreuz Offshore Marine Pte Ltd (1)

Singapore

100

100

Vessel owning and chartering

Kreuz Subsea Pte Ltd (1)(6)

Singapore

70

-

Subsea services

Equatorial Drilling Services Pte Ltd (1)

Singapore

90

90

Provision of drilling services

Equatorial Driller Pte Ltd (1)

Singapore

90

90

Deep water drilling

Singapore

90

-

Provision of drilling services

Held by Equatorial Drilling International Pte Ltd

Held by Equatorial Drilling Services Pte Ltd
Equatorial Offshore Drilling Pte Ltd (5)(6)
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)

Audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, Singapore
Audited by overseas practices of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Audited by Ernst & Young, Indonesia
Audited by Sylvester Leong & Co., Brunei
Not required to be audited under local law of incorporation and subsidiary considered immaterial
Newly incorporated during 2008
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15 ASSOCIATES
		
		

2008

Group
2007

		

US$’000

US$’000

2,302
1,879

2,147
1,551

4,181

3,698

Cost of investment in associates
Share of post-acquisition profit, net of dividend received
		
Investment in associate includes goodwill of US$1,307,000 (2007 : US$1,307,000).
Details of the group’s associates at the year end are as follows:
			
		
Country of
		
incorporation
Name of associates
and operation
		
		

Proportion of
ownership interest
and voting
power held
2008
2007
%
%

Principal activity

OBT Holdings Pte Ltd (1)

Singapore

30

30

Investment holding

Perfect Motive Sdn Bhd (2)(3)

Malaysia

20

-

Investment holding

PT Kreuz Berjaya (4)(5)

Indonesia

49

-

Offshore marine engineering

Finesse Shipping Pte Ltd (1)

Singapore

30

30

Ship owning and ship chartering

Accius Trading Pte Ltd (1)

Singapore

30

30

Ship owning and ship chartering

Offshore Bulk International Pte Ltd (1)

Singapore

30

30

Ship leasing and ship chartering

Malaysia

20

-

Offshore marine engineering

Held by OBT Holdings Pte Ltd

Held by Perfect Motive Sdn Bhd
Cheyne Field Services Sdn Bhd (2)(3)
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

Audited by Foo Kon Tan Grant Thornton, Singapore.
Audited by Messrs Yeh Co., Malaysia
Newly acquired in 2008
Not required to be audited under local law of incorporation and subsidiary considered immaterial
Newly incorporated in 2008

Summarised financial information in respect of the group’s associates is set out below:
		
		

2008

Group
2007

		

US$’000

US$’000

49,789
(39,266)

14,345
(5,249)

10,523

9,096

3,163

2,729

17,064

6,224

1,437

2,810

328

843

Total assets
Total liabilities
Net assets
Group’s share of associate’s net assets
Revenue
Profit for the year
Group’s share of associate’s profit for the year
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16 JOINT VENTURE
		
		

2008

Group
2007

		

US$’000

US$’000

5,893
3,341

3,618
830

9,234

4,448

Cost of investment in joint ventures
Share of post-acquisition profit, net of dividend received
		
Details of the group’s joint ventures at the year end are as follows:
			
		
Country of
		
incorporation
Name of joint venture
and operation
		
		
Swiwar Offshore Pte Ltd (1)
Rawabi Swiber Offshore Construction Co. Ltd (2)(3)
		
Principia Asia Pacific Engineering Pte Ltd (1)(2)
(1)
(2)
(3)

Proportion of
ownership interest
and voting
power held
2008
2007
%
%

Principal activity

Singapore

50

50

Ship owning and ship chartering

Saudi Arabia

50

-

Offshore marine engineering

Singapore

49

-

Offshore marine engineering

Audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, Singapore.
Newly incorporated in 2008
Not required to be audited under local law of incorporation and subsidiary considered immaterial

Summarised financial information in respect of the group’s joint ventures, is set out below:
		
		

2008

2007

		

US$’000

US$’000

47,874
(29,399)

43,744
(34,849)

18,475

8,895

Group’s share of joint venture’s net assets

9,234

4,448

Profit for the year

5,029

1,660

Group’s share of joint venture’s profit for the year

2,511

830

Total assets
Total liabilities
Net assets

Group
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17 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Group and Company
		
		

2008
Assets

Liabilities

Assets

		

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

-

(4,867)

1,762

-

Interest rate swaps

2007
Liabilities

The group utilises a cross currency interest rate swap contract to hedge significant future transactions and cash flows on its fixed and floating rate bonds
(Note 20). The group has swapped the notes as follows:
-

S$54.0 million notes with 3 year fixed rate of 4.34% per annum to US$35.4 million with fixed rate of 6.8% per annum and the S$54.5 million notes with 3
year floating rate of 1.4% above the three month Singapore dollar swap offer rate per annum to US$35.7 million with fixed rate of 6.8% per annum.

-

S$15 million notes with six months floating rate of 3.14% per annum to US$11 million with fixed rate of 4.38% per annum.

-

S$50 million notes with 3 year fixed rate of 4% per annum to US$36 million with fixed rate of 5.18% per annum and the S$50 million notes with 3 year
floating rate of 2.22% above the three month Singapore dollar swap offer rate per annum to US$36 million with fixed rate of 5.18%.

The fair value loss of swaps entered into at December 31, 2008 is estimated at US$4,867,000 (2007 : gain of US$1,762,000). These amounts are based on quoted
market prices for equivalent instruments at the balance sheet date. All of these interest rate swaps are designated and effective as cash flow hedges and the fair
value thereof has been deferred in equity.
All interest rate swap contracts exchanging floating rate interest amounts for fixed rate interest amounts are designated as cash flow hedges in order to reduce
the group’s cash flow exposure resulting from variable interest rates on borrowings.

18 DEFERRED TAX
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the group, and the movements thereon, during the current and prior reporting periods:
				
		
Employee
Allowance
		
benefit
for debts

Deferred
tax
assets

Accelerated
tax
depreciation

Deferred
tax
liabilities

		

74

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

At January 1, 2007
Charge to profit or loss for the year

(12)
-

(7)
1

(19)
1

489
389

489
389

At December 31, 2007
Charge to profit or loss for the year

(12)
-

(6)
(7)

(18)
(7)

878
2,662

878
2,662

At December 31, 2008

(12)

(13)

(25)

3,540

3,540
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19 BANK LOANS
		
		

2008

Group
2007

		

US$’000

US$’000

126,207

24,556

Bank loans
		
		

2008

Group
2007

		

US$’000

US$’000

68,507
16,171
15,757
13,818
4,407
7,547

14,434
2,992
2,893
2,512
1,303
422

126,207
(68,507)

24,556
(14,434)

57,700

10,122

The borrowings are repayable as follows:
On demand or within one year
In the second year
In the third year
In the fourth year
In the fifth year
After the fifth year
		
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months (shown under current liabilities)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months

The group has 18 principal bank loans (2007 : 11) with various repayment terms with the earliest commencing in October 2005 and continuing to October 2010
and the latest commencing in October 2008 and continuing to September 2013.
The loans are subjected to interest rates ranging from 4.03% to 13.00% (2007 : 4.50% to 16.75%) per annum, and the interest rate is subjected to change
according to prevailing market conditions and/or at bank’s discretion and it therefore exposes the group to cash flow interest rate risk.
The management estimates the fair value of the group’s borrowings, by discounting their future cash flows at the market rate, to be as follows:
		
		

2008

Group
2007

		

US$’000

US$’000

132,044

26,176

Bank loans
The bank loans are secured by:
(i)

First legal mortgage over certain vessels, apartments, furniture and office equipment.

(ii) Assignment of all marine insurances in respect of the vessels mentioned above.
(iii) Assignment of earnings/charter proceeds in respect of the vessels mentioned above.
At December 31, 2008, the group had available US$38,458,000 (2007 : $2,800,000) of undrawn borrowing facilities in respect of which all conditions precedent
had been met.
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20 BONDS
		
		

Group and Company
2008
2007

		
Current portion:

US$’000

US$’000

11,904

-

Notes due in August 2010:
		 Fixed rate
		 Floating rate

35,738
35,409

35,738
35,409

			

71,147

71,147

Notes due in March 2011:
		 Fixed rate
		 Floating rate

36,023
36,024

-

			

72,047

-

143,194

71,147

Notes due in May 2009
		 Floating rate
Non-current portion:

Total non-current portion

In prior year, the company established a Multicurrency Medium Term Notes Programme (MTN Programme) to issue up to S$300 million fixed or floating rate
notes. As at December 31, 2008, the company has issued six series of notes maturing in May 2009, August 2010 and March 2011, amounting to S$ 224.75 million
(equivalent to US$ 155.1 million) [2007 : 108.5 million (equivalent to US$71,147,000)]. These are denominated in Singapore dollars. The term of the bonds and
interest rate are disclosed in Note 17.
Simultaneously, a cross currency interest rate swap contract was established in relation to the MTN Programme for the issued notes creating an effective cash
flow hedge against the foreign currency and interest rate movement on the notes issued. The interest rate swap contracts exchanging floating rate interest to fixed
rate interest are designated as a cash flow hedge.

21 TRADE PAYABLES
			
			
				
Outside parties		

2008

Group		
2007

Company
2008

2007

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

92,473

43,946

574

-

The average credit period on purchases of goods and services is 30 days (2007 : 30 days). No interest is charged on the outstanding balance. The group has
financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are within the credit timeframe.
Trade creditors principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs.
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22 OTHER PAYABLES
		
		

2008

2007

2008

2007

		

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

30,181
64,846
15,452

21,016
20,954
7,251

4,997
1,002

7,190
371

110,479

49,221

5,999

7,561

Accruals
Deposits received from customers
Other payables
			

Group

Company

23 FINANCE LEASES
			
		
Minimum
		
lease payments
		
2008
2007
		
Group

Present value
of minimum
lease payments
2008
2007

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

797
2,282
149

102
407
383

701
1,974
112

80
350
267

Total		
3,228
892
Less: Future finance charges
(441)
(195)
Present value of lease obligations
2,787
697
Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months (shown under current liabilities)			

2,787

697

(701)

(80)

Amount due for settlement after 12 months			

2,086

617

Amounts payable under finance leases:
Within one year
In the second to fifth years inclusive
After fifth year

			
		
Minimum
		
lease payments
		
2008
2007
		
Company

Present value
of minimum
lease payments
2008
2007

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

Within one year
In the second to fifth years inclusive
After fifth year

53
259
30

53
211
218

39
156
61

39
187
130

Total		
Less: Future finance charges
Present value of lease obligations

342
(87)
255

482
(126)
356

256

356

Less: Amount due for settlement within 12 months (shown under current liabilities)			

(39)

(39)

Amount due for settlement after 12 months			

217

317

Amounts payable under finance leases:
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23 FINANCE LEASES (cont’d)
The average lease term is 10 years. For the year ended December 31, 2008, the average effective borrowing rate was 3.7% per annum (2007 : 6.5%). Interest
rates are fixed at the contract date, and thus expose the company to fair value interest rate risk. All leases are on a fixed repayment basis and no arrangements
have been entered into for contingent rental payments. The lease obligations are denominated in Singapore dollars. The fair value of the group’s and company’s
lease obligations approximates their carrying amounts.
The group’s and company’s obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessors’ title to the lease assets.

24 SHARE CAPITAL
		
		

2008

		
Issued and paid up:
At the beginning of the year
Issue of share capital for cash
Share capital issue expenses
At the end of the year

Group and Company
2007
2008

Number of ordinary shares

2007

US$’000

US$’000

424,350,000
-

369,000,000
55,350,000
-

108,205
-

31,634
78,569
(1,998)

424,350,000

424,350,000

108,205

108,205

Fully paid ordinary shares, which have no par value, carry one vote per share and carry a right to dividends.

25 TREASURY SHARES
		
		

2008

		

Group and Company
2007
2008

Number of ordinary shares

2007

US$’000

US$’000

At beginning of the year
Repurchased during the year

2,995,000

-

2,507

-

At the end of the year

2,995,000

-

2,507

-

The company acquired 2,995,000 of its own shares through purchases on the Singapore Exchange during the year. The total amount paid to acquire the shares was
US$2,507,000 and has been deducted from the shareholders’ equity. The shares are held as ‘treasury shares’.

26 HEDGING RESERVE
The hedging reserve represents hedging gains and losses recognised on the effective portion of cash flow hedges.
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27 REVENUE
		
		
		
Revenue from engineering contracts
Charter hire income
Revenue from shipbuilding contracts
		

Group
2008
US$’000

2007
US$’000

296,762
91,936
39,740

117,096
22,419
11,662

428,438

151,177

28 OTHER OPERATING INCOME
		
		
		
Gain on disposal of assets held for sale
Foreign exchange gain
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Interest income
Sale of scrap metal
Negative goodwill written off
Others
		

Group
2008
US$’000

2007
US$’000

12,279
4,186
3,377
832
343
508

21,686
283
2,381
1,549
2,018
230

21,525

28,147

29 FINANCE COSTS
		
		
		
Interest expense on:
Bank loans
Bills payable
Finance leases
Other short-term loans
Bonds

Group
2008
US$’000

2007
US$’000

4,795
848
104
155
7,265

970
619
21
400
1,836

		
Less: Interest capitalised

13,167
(2,036)

3,846
(110)

		

11,131

3,736
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30 INCOME TAX EXPENSE
		
		
		

Group
2008
US$’000

2007
US$’000

Current tax
- Current year
2,165
1,916
- Prior year
927
Deferred tax	������������
2,655�������
389
Income tax expense for the year

5,747

2,305

Domestic income tax of the company is calculated at 18% (2007 : 18%) of the estimated assessable profit for the year. Taxation for other jurisdictions is
calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.
The total charge for the year can be reconciled to the accounting profit as follows:
		
		
		

Group

Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 18% (2007 : 18%)
Underprovision of tax in prior year
Tax effect of share of results of associate and joint venture
Tax effect of items that are not deductible in determining taxable profit
Deferred tax benefits not recognised
Utilisation of deferred tax previously not recognised
Income exempted from tax
Non taxable items
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions
Others
		

2008
US$’000

2007
US$’000

8,142
927
(511)
7,004
(1,134)
(8,541)
(140)
171
(171)

9,362
(301)
11
13
(6,569)
(1,080)
1,124
(255)

5,747

2,305

31 PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging (crediting):
		
		
		

Group

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Directors’ fees
Directors’ remuneration:
Of the company
Of the subsidiaries
Employee benefits expense (including directors’ remuneration)
Cost of defined contribution plans included in staff costs
Allowance for doubtful debts
Non audit fees:
Auditors of the company
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2008
US$’000

2007
US$’000

8,656
275

2,675
275

3,875
275
13,446
603
4,043

6,611
502
11,044
197
55
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32 EARNINGS PER SHARE
Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the group’s net profit attributable to shareholders of the company for the year by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during the financial year as follows:
		
		
Net profit attributable to shareholders of the company (US$’000)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (’000)
Basic earnings per share (in US cents)

Group
2008

2007

38,817

49,669

422,367

395,538

9.19

12.56

There is no dilution effect in earnings per share in respect of share options as there were no shares under option during and at the end of the year.

33 COMMITMENTS
		
		

2008

2007

		

US$’000

US$’000

309,492

239,488

Commitments to contracts for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment

Group

34 OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
The group as lessee
		
		

2008

2007

		

US$’000

US$’000

13,086

452

Minimum lease payments under operating leases recognised as an expense in the year

Group

At the balance sheet date, the group has outstanding commitments under non-cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows:
		
		

2008

2007

		

US$’000

US$’000

26,321
102,915
84,875

25,212
99,790
95,666

214,111

220,668

Within one year
In the second to fifth years inclusive
After five years
		

Group

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the group for vessels which were acquired under sale and leaseback transactions and certain of its office
properties. Vessel leases are negotiated for an average term of eight and ten years and rentals are fixed for an average of eight and ten years. Office properties
leases are negotiated for an average term of two years and rentals are fixed for an average of two years.
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35 ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARY
In 2007, the group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Kreuz Shipbuilding & Engineering Pte Ltd (formerly known as North Shipyard (Pte) Ltd) for cash
consideration of S$10.3 million (equivalent to US$6.9 million). This transaction had been accounted for by the purchase method of accounting.
The net assets acquired in the transaction, and the negative goodwill arising, are as follows:
		
		
2007

Acquiree’s
carrying amount
before combination

Fair value
adjustments

Fair value

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

2,374
33
388
2,545
62
1,697
(526)
(1,381)
(614)

4,372
(29)
-

6,746
4
388
2,545
62
1,697
(526)
(1,381)
(614)

4,578

4,343

8,921

Negative goodwill			

(2,018)

Total consideration, satisfied by cash			

6,903

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:
Cash consideration paid			
Cash and cash equivalents acquired			

(6,903)
1,697

		
Net assets acquired:
Property, plant and equipment
Other assets
Inventories
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Bank and cash balances
Trade payables
Other payables
Income tax payable
		

			

(5,206)

Kreuz Shipbuilding & Engineering Pte Ltd contributed US$14.2 million revenue and US$2.1 million to the group’s profit before tax for the period between the date
of acquisition and the balance sheet date. If the acquisition had been completed on January 1, 2007, total group revenue for the year would have been US$155.7
million, and profit for the year would have been US$50.4 million. In determining the ‘pro-forma’ revenue and profit of the group had Kreuz Shipbuilding &
Engineering Pte Ltd been acquired at the beginning of the current reporting period, the management has:

82

-

calculated depreciation and amortisation of property, plant and equipment acquired on the basis of the fair values arising in the initial accounting for the
business combination rather than the carrying amounts recognised in the pre-acquisition financial statements; and

-

based borrowing costs on the funding levels, credit ratings and debt/equity position of the group after the business combination.
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36 BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENT INFORMATION
Business segments
The group operates in three business segments - Offshore Engineering, Procurement, Construction, Installation and Commissioning services (EPCIC), Offshore
Marine support and Shipbuilding and repair.
Principal activities are as follows:
Offshore EPCIC services

–

providing offshore engineering, procurement, construction, installation and commissioning services

Offshore Marine support

–

provision of offshore support services and offshore support vessels

Shipbuilding and repair

–

building and repairing of offshore vessels

Segment revenue and expense: Segment revenue and expense are the operating revenue and expense reported in the group’s profit and loss statement that are
directly attributable to a segment and the relevant portion of such revenue and expense that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to a segment.
Segment assets and liabilities: Segment assets include all operating assets used by a segment and consist principally of operating receivables, inventories
and property, plant and equipment, net of allowances and provisions. Capital additions include the total cost incurred to acquire property, plant and equipment
directly attributable to the segment. Segment liabilities include all operating liabilities and consist principally of accounts payable and accruals.
Inter-segment transfers: Segment revenue and expenses include transfers between business segments. Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market
prices. These transfers are eliminated on consolidation.
In 2008, the group’s three business segments operate mainly in five geographical areas of Singapore, Malaysia, Indonesia, Brunei and India.
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36 BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)
Segmental information for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows:
Group				
		
Offshore
Offshore
Shipbuilding
		
EPCIC
marine
and
		
services
support
repair
Eliminations
		
FY 2008

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

US$’000

Revenue
External sales
Inter-segment sales

296,762
10,811

91,936
243,734

39,740
2,922

(257,467)

428,438
-

Total revenue

307,573

335,670

42,662

(257,467)

428,438

17,132

9,441

4,818		

31,391

Unallocated income					
Finance costs					
Share of profit of associate and joint venture					

22,136
(11,131)
2,839

Profit before tax					
Income tax expense					

45,235
(5,747)

Profit for the year					

39,488

Results
Segment result

		
		
		

Offshore
EPCIC
services

Offshore
marine
support

		

US$’000

US$’000

75,905
2,315

114,925
5,020

Other information
Capital additions
Depreciation

84

US$’000

Total

Shipbuilding
and
repair
Eliminations
US$’000

US$’000

2,657
740

194,320
8,656

Balance sheet
Assets
Segment assets
298,628
270,274
37,554
Interest in associate					
Interest in joint venture					
Unallocated assets					

606,456
4,181
9,234
85,741

Consolidated total assets					

705,612

Liabilities
Segment liabilities
141,560
44,987
9,333
Unallocated liabilities					

195,880
302,661

Consolidated total liabilities					

498,541
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36 BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)
Group
		
		
		
		
FY 2007

Offshore
EPCIC
services

Offshore
marine
support

US$’000

US$’000

Shipbuilding
and
repair
Eliminations
US$’000

US$’000

Total
US$’000

Revenue
External sales
Inter-segment sales

117,096
-

22,419
64,614

11,662
2,579

(67,193)

151,177
-

Total revenue

117,096

87,033

14,241

(67,193)

151,177

21,008

2,315

2,168

-

25,491

Unallocated income					
Finance costs					
Share of profit of associate and joint venture					

28,583
(3,736)
1,673

Profit before tax					
Income tax expense					

52,011
(2,305)

Profit for the year					

49,706

Results
Segment result

		
		
		

Offshore
EPCIC
services

Offshore
marine
support

		

US$’000

US$’000

46,743
679

42,964
1,713

Other information
Capital additions
Depreciation

Shipbuilding
and
repair
Eliminations
US$’000

1,186
129

US$’000

Total
US$’000

1,395
154

92,288
2,675

Balance sheet
Assets
Segment assets
135,909
92,624
22,297
Interest in associate					
Interest in joint venture					
Unallocated assets					

250,830
3,698
4,448
111,064

Consolidated total assets					

370,040

Liabilities
Segment liabilities
46,213
34,193
5,266
Unallocated liabilities					

85,672
106,889

Consolidated total liabilities					

192,561
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36 BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENT INFORMATION (cont’d)
Geographical segments
				
		
Revenue (1)
Assets (2)
		
US$’000
US$’000
FY 2008
Singapore
Malaysia
Indonesia
Brunei
India		
Others
			

Capital
expenditure (2)
US$’000

33,753
120,034
96,447
72,146
70,638
35,420

361,334
256,699
38,897
48,682
-

93,672
100,201
447
-

428,438

705,612

194,320

19,531
50,938
19,082
50,834
7,767
3,025

146,487
183,321
6,220
34,012
-

19,987
71,581
402
318
-

151,177

370,040

92,288

FY 2007
Singapore
Malaysia
Indonesia
Brunei
India		
Others
			
(1)

Analysis of the group’s sales is by geographical location of customer, irrespective of the origin of the work/services.

(2)

Analysis of the carrying amount of segment assets and additions to the property, plant and equipment analysed by the geographical area in which the assets
are located.

37 EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
Subsequent to December 31, 2008, the group, through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Swiber Engineering Ltd, acquired a 49% interest in a new joint venture
company, Victorious LLC, incorporated in the Republic of the Marshall Islands, with initial issued and paid up share capital of US$37.5m. The principal activity of
the subsidiary is to engage in ownership and chartering of vessels.
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38 RECLASSIFICATIONS AND COMPARATIVE FIGURES
Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year’s financial statements to enhance comparability with the current year’s financial statements.
As a result, certain line items have been amended on the face of the balance sheet, and the related notes to the financial statements. Comparative figures have
been adjusted to conform with the current year’s presentation.
The items were reclassified as follows:
		
		
		
		

Previously
reported
2007

After
reclassification
2007

		

US$’000

US$’000

100,714
-

44,930
55,784

Trade receivables
Engineering work-in-progress in excess of progress billings

Group
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS
In the opinion of the directors, the consolidated financial statements of the group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in
equity of the company as set out on pages 45 to 87 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and
of the company as at December 31, 2008, and of the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the group and changes in equity of the
company for the financial year then ended and at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will
be able to pay its debts when they fall due.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

...............................................
Goh Kim Teck, Raymond

...............................................
Wong Chin Sing, Francis

March 31, 2009
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DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS
SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS

NO. OF SHAREHOLDERS

%

NO. OF SHARES

%

7

0.13

2,549

0.00

1,000 - 10,000

3,464

63.88

18,571,628

4.41

10,001 - 1,000,000

1,933

35.64

87,300,892

20.72

1,000,001 and above

19

0.35

315,479,931

74.87

5,423

100.00

421,355,000

100.00

NO. OF SHARES

%

1 - 999

TOTAL

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS
NO.

NAME

1

CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD

97,208,454

23.07

2

MAYBAN NOMINEES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD

52,005,000

12.34

3

DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD

47,962,015

11.38

4

SWISSCO INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

38,000,000

9.02

5

HONG LEONG FINANCE NOMINEES PTE LTD

19,399,000

4.60

6

HENDRIK EDDY PURNOMO

16,051,000

3.81

7

GOH KIM TECK

15,000,000

3.56

8

UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES PTE LTD

6,233,000

1.48

9

DBSN SERVICES PTE LTD

3,334,000

0.79

10

NITISH GUPTA

3,000,000

0.71

11

PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD

2,781,000

0.66

12

MERRILL LYNCH (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD

2,762,174

0.66

13

HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD

2,531,000

0.60

14

CIMB-GK SECURITIES PTE. LTD.

1,858,000

0.44

15

KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE. LTD.

1,769,621

0.42

16

NEW CREATION CHURCH

1,666,667

0.40

17

UOB KAY HIAN PTE LTD

1,632,000

0.39

18

OCBC NOMINEES SINGAPORE PRIVATE LIMITED

1,260,000

0.30

19

CITIBANK CONSUMER NOMINEES PTE LTD

1,027,000

0.24

20

YEO CHEE NENG

1,000,000

0.24

316,479,931

75.11

TOTAL
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Total no. of issued shares excluding treasury shares
Total no. and percentage of treasury shares
Class of shares
Voting rights

:
:
:
:

421,355,000
2,995,000 (0.705%)
Ordinary share
One vote per share

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
Substantial shareholders of the Company (as recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders) as at 16 March 2009
Direct Interest
No. of shares
%*

Name
Goh Kim Teck
Jean Pers
Yeo Chee Neng
Swissco International Limited
Pang Yoke Min
Yeo Holdings Private Limited
Yeo Chong Lin
Yeo Kian Teong Alex

60,000,000
35,200,000
35,100,000
38,000,000
-

Indirect Interest
No. of shares
%*

14.23%1
8.35%2
8.33%3
9.01%
-

54,745,000
38,000,000
38,000,000
38,000,000

12.99%4
9.01%5
9.01%6
9.01%7

Notes :
*

Computed based on 421,355,000 shares, being the total number of issued voting shares of the Company (excluding treasury shares).

1

Includes 35,000,000 shares registered in the name of Mayban Nominees (Singapore) Pte Ltd and 10,000,000 shares registered in the name of DBS Nominees Pte
Ltd, beneficially held by Goh Kim Teck.

2

Registered in the name of Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd, beneficially held by Jean Pers.

3

Includes 19,000,000 shares registered in the name of Hong Leong Finance Nominees Pte Ltd and 15,000,000 shares registered in the name of Mayban Nominees
(Singapore) Pte Ltd, beneficially held by Yeo Chee Neng.

4

Registered in the name of Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd.

5

Yeo Holdings Private Limited is deemed to be interested in the shares of the Company through its interests in Swissco International Limited by virtue of Section 7
of the Companies Act, Cap 50. (“Act”).

6

Yeo Holdings Private Limited is deemed to be interested in the shares of the Company through its interest in Swissco International Limited by virtue of Section 7 of
the Act. By virtue of Section 7 of the Act, Mr Yeo Chong Lin is deemed to be interested in

7

Yeo Holdings Private Limited is deemed to be interested in the shares of the Company through its interests in Swissco International Limited by virtue of Section 7
of the Act. By virtue of Section 7 of the Act, Mr Yeo Kian Teong Alex is deemed to be intere

FREE FLOAT
As at 16 March 2009, the percentage of shareholdings of the Company held in the hands of the public was more than 10 percent and therefore Rule 723 of the Listing
Manual is complied with.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of Swiber Holdings Limited (the “Company”) will be held at 12 International Business Park, #03-02
Cyberhub@IBP, Singapore 609920, on Thursday, 30 April 2009 at 9.00 a.m. for the following purposes:

ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and Audited Accounts of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2008 together with the Auditors’ Report thereon.
			
(Resolution 1)
2. To re-elect the following Directors retiring pursuant to Articles 93 and 99 of the Articles of Association of the Company:
Mr Goh Kim Teck
[Article 93]
Mr Yeo Chee Neng
[Article 93]
Mr Tay Gim Sin Leonard
[Article 93]
Mr Nitish Gupta
[Article 99]

(Resolution 2)
(Resolution 3)
(Resolution 4)
(Resolution 5)

Mr Tay Gim Sin Leonard will, upon re-election as Director of the Company, remain as Chairman of Audit Committee and member of the Remuneration and Nominating
Committees and will be considered independent for the purposes of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

3. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees of US$275,000 for the year ended 31 December 2008.

(Resolution 6)

4. To re-appoint Messrs Deloitte & Touche LLP as the Company’s Auditors and to authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.

(Resolution 7)

5. To transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

As Special Business

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions, with or without any modifications:
6. Authority to allot and issue shares up to fifty per cent. (50%) of issued capital
“THAT pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 and the listing rules of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), authority be
and is hereby given to the Directors to:
(i)

issue shares in the capital of the Company whether by way of bonus issue, rights issue or otherwise; and/or

(ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively “Instruments”) that might or would require shares to be issued, including but not limited to the
creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to) warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into shares; and/or
(iii) issue additional Instruments convertible into shares arising from adjustments made to the number of Instruments
at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the Directors may, in their absolute discretion, deem fit; and
(notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue shares in pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the
Directors while this Resolution was in force,
provided that:
(1)

(2)

the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to this Resolution (including shares to be issued in pursuance of any Instruments made or granted
pursuant to this Resolution):
(A)

by way of renounceable rights issues on a pro rata basis to shareholders of the Company (“Renounceable Rights Issues”) shall not exceed 100 percent
of the total number of issued shares in the capital of the Company excluding treasury shares (as calculated in paragraph (3) below); and

(B)

otherwise than by way of Renounceable Rights Issues (“Other Shares Issues”) shall not exceed 50 percent of the total number of issued shares in the
capital of the Company excluding treasury shares (as calculated in accordance with paragraph (3) below), of which the aggregate number of shares to
be issued other than on a pro rata basis to shareholders of the Company shall not exceed 20 percent, of the total number of issued shares in the capital
of the Company excluding treasury shares (as calculated in accordance with paragraph (3) below);

the Renounceable Rights Issues and Other Shares Issues shall not, in aggregate, exceed 100 percent of the total number of issued shares in the capital of
the Company excluding treasury shares (as calculated in paragraph (3) below);
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(3)

(4)

(subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of shares that may be
issued under paragraphs (1)(A) and (1)(B) above, the percentage of issued shares shall be based on the total number of issued shares in the capital of the
Company excluding treasury shares at the time this Resolution is passed, after adjusting for:
(i)

new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities or shares options or vesting of share awards which are outstanding or
subsisting at the time this Resolution is passed; and

(ii)

any subsequent bonus issue or consolidation or subdivision of shares;

in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the provisions of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being
in force (unless such compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST) and the Articles of Association for the time being of the Company; and

(5)

(unless revoked or varied by the Company in General Meeting) the authority conferred by this Resolution shall continue in force until the conclusion of the
next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever
is the earlier.” [See Explanatory Note (i)]
		
(Resolution 8)
7. Placement of Shares under the Share Issue Mandate at more than 10% Discount
“THAT notwithstanding Rule 811 of the Listing Manual, the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to issue shares and/or Instruments other than on
a pro-rata basis pursuant to the aforesaid general mandate at a discount not exceeding twenty percent (20%) to the weighted average price for trades done on the
SGX-ST for the full market day on which the placement or subscription agreement in relation to such shares and/or Instruments is executed, provided that:(a)

in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the provisions of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being
in force (unless such compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST) and the Articles of Association for the time being of the Company; and

(b)

(unless revoked or varied by the Company in General Meeting) the authority conferred by this Resolution shall continue in force until the conclusion of the
next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever
is the earlier.” [See Explanatory Note (ii)]			
(Resolution 9)

8. Authority to grant options and issue shares under the Swiber Employee Share Option Scheme
“That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to offer and grant options in accordance
with the Swiber Employee Share Option Scheme (the “Scheme”) and to issue such shares as may be required to be issued pursuant to the exercise of the options
granted under the Scheme provided always that the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to the Scheme shall not exceed fifteen per cent. (15%) of
the total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares of the Company from time to time.” [See Explanatory Note (iii)] 			
(Resolution 10)
9.

Authority to allot and issue shares under Swiber Performance Share Plan
“That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to allot and issue from time to time such
shares in the capital of the Company as may be required to be issued pursuant to the Swiber Performance Share Plan provided always that the aggregate number
of shares to be issued pursuant to the Swiber Performance Share Plan shall not exceed fifteen per cent. (15%) of the total number of issued shares excluding
treasury shares of the Company from time to time” [See Explanatory Note (iv)] 			
(Resolution 11)

By Order of the Board

Lee Bee Fong
Tan Ping Ping
Company Secretaries
Singapore, 14 April 2009
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Explanatory Notes:
(i) Resolution No. 8 is to empower the Directors to issue shares in the capital of the Company and to make or grant instruments (such as warrants or debentures)
convertible into shares, and to issue shares in pursuance of such instruments; up to a number not exceeding (i) 100% for Renounceable Rights Issues and (ii)
50% for Other Shares Issues, of which up to 20% may be issued other than on a pro rata basis to shareholders, provided that the total number of shares which
may be issued pursuant to (i) and (ii) shall not exceed 100% of the issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company. For the purpose of
determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued, the percentage of issued shares shall be based on the total number of issued shares (excluding
treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at the time that Resolution No. 8 is passed, after adjusting for (a) new shares arising from the conversion or
exercise of any convertible securities or share option or vesting of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting at the time that Resolution No. 8 is passed,
and (b) any subsequent bonus issue or consolidation or subdivision of shares.
The authority for undertaking 100% Renounceable Rights Issues is proposed pursuant to the SGX-ST’s news release of 19 February 2009 which introduced
further measures to accelerate and facilitate the fund raising efforts of listed issuers.
(ii)

Resolution No. 9 is to authorize the Directors to issue new shares to subscribers or placees at a discount of not more than 20% to the weighted average price for
trades done on the SGX-ST for the full market day on which the placement or subscription agreement is signed.
The maximum pricing discount of 20% is proposed pursuant to the SGX-ST’s news release of 19 February 2009 which introduced further measures to accelerate
and facilitate the fund raising efforts of listed issuers.

(iii) Resolution No. 10 proposed in item 8 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, to grant options and to allot and issue shares upon the
exercise of such options in accordance with the Swiber Employee Share Option Scheme.
(iv) Resolution No. 11 proposed in item 9 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company to allot and issue shares in accordance with the Swiber
Performance Share Plan.
Notes:
1.

A member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to attend and vote instead of him. A proxy
need not be a member of the Company.

2.

If the appointor is a corporation, the proxy must be executed under seal or the hand of its duly authorised officer or attorney.

3.

The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 12 International Business Park, Cyberhub@IBP, #04-01,
Singapore 609920 not less than forty-eight hours (48) before the time for holding the Annual General Meeting.
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Proxy Form

IMPORTANT:
1. For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy Swiber Holdings Limited
shares, the Annual Report is forwarded to them at the request of their CPF
Approved Nominees and is sent FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

Swiber Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF Investors and shall be ineffective
for all intents and purposes if used or purported to be used by them.

(Company Registration No. 200414721N)

I/We

			

of

		

		

(Name)

			

(Address)

being a member/members of Swiber Holdings Limited (the “Company”) hereby appoint:

Name

Address

NRIC/Pasport Number

Proportion of Shareholdings (%)

Address

NRIC/Pasport Number

Proportion of Shareholdings (%)

and/or (delete as appropriate)

Name

as my/our proxy/proxies to vote for me/us on my/our behalf, at the Annual General Meeting of the Company (the “Meeting”) to be held at 12 International Business Park,
#03-02 Cyberhub@IBP, Singapore 609920, on Thursday, 30 April 2009, at 9.00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof. I/We direct my/our proxy/proxies to vote for or against
the Resolutions to be proposed at the Meeting as indicated hereunder. If no specific direction as to voting is given, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at
his/their discretion, as he/they will on any matter arising at the Meeting.

No.
1.

Resolutions Relating to:

Re-election of Mr Goh Kim Teck

3.

Re-election of Mr Yeo Chee Neng

4.

Re-election of Mr Tay Gim Sin Leonard

5.

Re-election of Mr Nitish Gupta

6.

Approval of Directors’ fees

8.

Against

Directors’ Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2008

2.

7.

For

Re-appointment of Messrs Deloitte & Touche LLP as Auditors
Authority to allot and issue shares

9.

Placement of shares under the share issue mandate at more than 10% discount

10.

Authority to grant options and issue shares under the Swiber Employee Share Option Scheme

11.

Authority to allot and issue shares under the Swiber Performance Share Plan

Dated this

day of

2009.

Total No. of Shares

No. of Shares

In CDP Register
In Register of Members

"

Signature(s) of Member(s)
or, Common Seal of Corporate Member

IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ NOTES OVERLEAF >>

Notes
1. A member entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to attend and vote in his
stead.
2. Where a member appoints more than one proxy, the appointments shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportion of his
holding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.
3. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.
4. A member should insert the total number of shares held. If the member has shares entered against his name in the Depository
Register (as defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 of Singapore), he should insert that number of shares.
If the member has shares registered in his name in the Register of Members of the Company, he should insert 		
that number of shares. If the member has shares entered against his name in the Depository Register and registered in his
name in the Register of Members, he should insert the aggregate number of shares. If no number is inserted, this form of proxy
will be deemed to relate to all shares held by the member.
5. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the Company’s registered office at 12 International Business
Park, Cyberhub@IBP, #04-01, Singapore 609920, not less than 48 hours before the time set for the Meeting.
6. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in
writing. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its
common seal or under the hand of its attorney or a duly authorised officer.
7. Where an instrument appointing a proxy is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the power of attorney or a duly
certified copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged with the instrument of proxy, failing which
the instrument may be treated as invalid.

General
The Company shall be entitled to reject a proxy form which is incomplete, improperly completed, illegible or where the true intentions
of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified on the proxy form. In addition, in the case of
shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject a proxy form if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to
have shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting,
as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

Swiber Holdings Limited

(Registration. No.: 200414721N)
12 International Business Park
Cyberhub @ IBP #04-01
Singapore 609920
T: (65) 6505 0800, F: (65) 6505 0802
www.swiber.com

